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<THE HEARING COMMENCED AT 10.17 AM
COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Your Honour, before resuming Mr Harle's evidence, may I hand
up three documents: one entitled Jason Breton's Evidence Documents for Tender by
Counsel Assisting, then another document Shayne Mallard's Evidence Additional
Documents for Tender by Counsel Assisting at the Request of Councillor Ristevski,
and then a new index to tender bundle 8.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Thank you.

MS McDONALD: And, your Honour, with, for example, the table of Jason Breton's
evidence your Honour will note that there are some documents green shaded; they're
subject to either - evidence in private session and subject to a non-publication order.

COMMISSIONER: Have I made orders over the document or just the evidence to
which -

MS McDONALD: Just over the evidence.
COMMISSIONER: All right.

MS McDONALD: Could I just pause -
COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: There may - it may be that the documents themselves should not
be covered by a non-publication order.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. It doesn't sound as though I've made one yet.
MS McDONALD: No.

COMMISSIONER: All right. How about I do this. The documents in the

list - Jason Breton's Evidence Documents for Tender by Counsel Assisting will have
the exhibit numbers attributed to them, and then if anybody seeks a non-publication
order over any of the documents, including those in the green shading, that can be
raised with me at an appropriate time.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: And the same will apply to the documents in the list. Shayne
Mallard's Evidence Additional Documents for Tender by Counsel Assisting at the
Request of Councillor Ristevski handed up today, they will have the exhibit numbers
attributed to them in that list.
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MS McDONALD: And, Commissioner, did you wish to mark anything for
identification?

COMMISSIONER: Yes. I'll mark both of those - I'll mark the list
addressing - dealing with Mr Breton's evidence MFI 24.

<MFI #24 JASON BRETON'S EVIDENCE DOCUMENTS FOR TENDER BY
COUNSEL ASSISTING

COMMISSIONER: And the list dealing with Mr Mallard's evidence MFI 25.

<MFI #25 SHAYNE MALLARD'S EVIDENCE ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS
FOR TENDER BY COUNSEL ASSISTING AT THE REQUEST OF
COUNCILLOR RISTEVSKI.

COMMISSIONER: And I've also been handed an updated tender bundle index, as
of today's date, which I'll mark MFI 26.

<MFI #26 UPDATED INDEX TO TENDER BUNDLE 8 AS OF 22/10/2025.
MS McDONALD: Thank you.

COMMISSIONER: Mr Emmett, are you with us? I saw your face for a moment,
and then you've disappeared from the screen. I just want to make sure the connection
is still alive?

MR EMMETT: Thank you, Commissioner. The answer is yes. | was going off
video when | wasn't seeking to address you, but yes.

COMMISSIONER: Quite all right. If at any time we lose the connection, you'll get
a message to Mr Andrews and he can let me know.

MR EMMETT: I will, Commissioner. Thank you.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you. Before we resume Councillor Harle's evidence,
there's a matter that I probably should put on the record. As I was walking up Martin
Place this morning I was approached by a gentleman who I now know is Councillor
Harte. He approached me and said, "Commissioner." I rather quizzically said "yes",
not immediately recognising who he was. He said, "I'm Matthew." I then abruptly,
and I accept probably to him rudely, said "I cannot speak to you" and continued
walking. I assume, I expect, there was nothing in it other than a desire to introduce
himself and say good morning. That was the end of it. I just thought it appropriate to
record that. Yes, Ms McDonald. Councillor, you're still on your oath from yesterday.

<PETER HARLE, ON FORMER OATH

COMMISSIONER: [s there anything further from you?
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MS McDONALD: Well, Ms Hamilton-Jewell, I think, is asking questions.
COMMISSIONER: Yes. Yes, Ms Hamilton-Jewell.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Thank you, Commissioner. Commissioner, can I raise
a preliminary matter?

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: I think it was foreshadowed by my learned friend.
The first topic that I am about to go to relates to the meeting that took place on 20
February 2025. That evidence has, to date, been taken in closed session.

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: I'm instructed for my client - he doesn't press
confidentiality in relation to the (indistinct) complaints. However, that may well be a
matter that counsel does or does not wish to (indistinct).

COMMISSIONER: All right.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: (Indistinct) as my client is concerned, doesn't
(indistinct). I've heard what fell from my learned friend this morning (indistinct).

I am content to do that, save that it probably will require me to disclose some of the
evidence that is currently subject to a non-publication order.

COMMISSIONER: All right. Let's take the prudent course. I'm grateful for your
indication on the issue of code of conduct complaints more generally. And I think
you're right, it's probably a matter that others should have the opportunity to address
me on if they wish to. Do you want to deal with that topic first?

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Matter for - I'm in your hands, Commissioner.
COMMISSIONER: You take whatever course you wish.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Well, in terms of the questions, I will deal with that
topic first.

COMMISSIONER: Okay.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: So whether anyone wants to wait and see what my
questions (audio distortion).

MR EMMETT: Commissioner, can | -

COMMISSIONER: I think you - yes.
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MR EMMETT: Can I wade in for two reasons. The first is to ask my learned friend
if the mic - if there's any chance the microphone can come closer to where she's
speaking. I could hear everything that counsel assisting was saying but I missed
some of what Ms Hamilton-Jewell said.

COMMISSIONER: All right. We'll address that.

MR EMMETT: I'm grateful. But the second is the - on the substance, which as |
understood it, was what to do in relation to current code of conduct complaints, the
council's position is that at least for the time being that ought to be received in closed
session to protect the position and protect the integrity of the investigations. We
acknowledge, as you, Commissioner, observed on a number of occasions, you are
going to have to deal with those in your report one way or another, but for the time
being to preserve the integrity that ought to be received in closed session.

COMMISSIONER: All right. Yes. I think for this morning's purposes and given,
Ms Hamilton-Jewell, any questions that might go to evidence which is currently

in - taken in private and subject to orders I've made - and let's not tie ourselves in
knots - we'll deal with it in private and - but I'm very grateful for your indication this
morning. That's a very practical way to deal with it in the short-term.

All right. We'll immediately go into closed session, then. Pursuant to section 12B of
the Royal Commissions Act, I direct that the next passage of evidence be taken in
private and that the transcript of this passage of the proceedings not be published
otherwise than in accordance with the usual order. There are some new people in the
back. I assume they can all stay?

MS McDONALD: Yes, your Honour. I think we've got Councillor Harte's counsel.
COMMISSIONER: Yes. Yes. Thank you. Yes. And those who are in the room can
remain in the room. And there are some people walking outside, so wouldn't mind

closing the door. Thank you.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 10.24 AM
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<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 10.36 AM
COMMISSIONER: Yes. We've returned to open. Thank you.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Councillor Harle, you were asked questions yesterday
about a 24 September 2025 meeting. If that can be - if the document can be brought
up, please. That's INQ.072.001.0010. Yes, please. You can see there that's

the minutes of the adjourned meeting held on 25 September 2025?

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And if we can go down to page 54 of that document.
If we can scroll down, please, and scroll down again. Sorry, it must be on page 55.
No, it was the bottom of page 54. You can see there there's a reference to a notice of
motion. And you were asked some questions yesterday about that and you were
shown both the motion and the background, the previous agenda, and there was
evidence yesterday about the reference to the findings in the public inquiry.

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you gave evidence that you spoke to Councillor
Ristevski about removing the reference to the findings of the inquiry?

MR HARLE: Yes, I did.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Now, just for completeness - if you could scroll up,
please, Operator. Up. If we can hold there. Thank you. You can see under the
heading Background:

"Recent public hearings into Liverpool City Council governance have highlighted
concerns".

And you can see there the reference to "findings" has been changed to "evidence".
MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Thank you. That document can be taken down. You
also gave some evidence yesterday about a discussion that you've had with
Councillor Ristevski at a meeting not so long ago in which you spoke to him about
publishing negative material on social media. Do you recall giving that evidence?

MR HARLE: Yes. Yes. Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Well, I suggest to you that that discussion did not
occur.

MR HARLE: A discussion did not occur?
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Discussion did not occur.
MR HARLE: I disagree with that.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And I suggest to you that you did not, at a council
meeting not so long ago, raise with Councillor Ristevski publishing material on
social media.

MR HARLE: I did speak to Councillor Ristevski - not officially. We had a break in
the proceedings and I spoke to Councillor Ristevski about issues I had on social
media, and there would be several witnesses who would - in fact, several witnesses
asked if I was all right with that discussion with Councillor Ristevski.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: I suggest to you that the discussion that you did have
with Councillor Ristevski was actually about his attendance at community meetings.

MR HARLE: No, I didn't - I had no discussion with him about community
meetings.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: You also gave evidence yesterday about your view
that council was not functional because of a rogue councillor. Do you recall that
evidence?

MR HARLE: Exactly. Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And that division was being created within council by
that rogue councillor. Do you recall that evidence?

MR HARLE: Yes. Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: On 14 October 2025 there was a council meeting - an
extraordinary council meeting.

MR HARLE: Yes.
MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Do you recall that meeting?

MR HARLE: I don't - I'm not - the dates I - yes, there was a meeting. Not sure of
the exact dates.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Well, let's bring up the minutes. INQ.074.001.0001.
Yes, please. See the heading there minutes of Extraordinary Meeting Held on
14 October 2025?

MR HARLE: Yes.
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you can see under Present you're listed as
attending?

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And if you can go over, please, to page 2, and down
the - to the next major paragraph, that - "Mayor Mannoun". You can see there there's
a reference to the extraordinary meeting being called?

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And if you can go over to the top of page 4, please.
You can see there's Personnel Matters. There's then a discussion about a confidential
item and a particular motion that was put to the meeting without amendment. You
see that?

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And if you go over, please, through to page 6 - sorry,
it starts at the bottom of page 5. You see there's a motion of urgency that's moved by
Councillor Macnaught?

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: That you seconded?

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And over on page 6 then, please. You can see that
that is the urgency motion that was moved.

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And it's not necessary for the operator to go back to
it, but the meeting commenced at about 7.06 pm, as recorded in the minutes, and the
meeting ended at about 8.20 pm.

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And it's fair to say, isn't it, that there was debate for
over an hour about this motion and the urgency motion?

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And a foreshadowed motion subsequent to the
urgency motion?
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MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you accept my description that - sorry. Do you
accept my description that this was a heated debate between councillors?

MR HARLE: It probably was - may have. I don't recollect it. Obviously there were
councillors that are pro and against the motion, but I - it was just a discussion. When
you say "heated", nobody lost their temper or anything like that. It was just a
discussion.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: But there were multiple points of order raised -

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: - and ruled on, weren't there?

MR HARLE: As is often the case.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And it was frequently the case that there

were - people were speaking over each other when one councillor had the floor. You
agree with that, don't you?

MR HARLE: Yes, that happens.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Incidentally, none of the points of order are noted in
the minutes. Is it usual for points of order to be noted in the minutes?

MR HARLE: The points of order is raised but it's not necessarily written down in
that way. Like, what the actual point of order was. No. I actually -

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: But if -
MR HARLE: - don't remember that being the case.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: We've seen on previous occasions what when a point
of order is ruled on it's recorded in the minutes.

MR HARLE: It may be. I don't know why it wasn't here.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: But you agree that there were multiple points of
order raised and ruled on?

MR HARLE: Yes, there were. Yes.
MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And there were points of order raised - and I'm not

sure what the adequate term is, but objected? Or a point of order was raised and the
point of order was rejected by the chair?

LCC Inquiry - 22.10.2025 P-2359 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR HARLE: Yes, by the mayor. Yes, that may be the case.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And there were occasions when the mayor rose to his
feet during that meeting?

MR HARLE: When - yes - could be, I don't -

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And multiple divisions were called during the course
of that meeting. Recall that?

MR HARLE: I don't (indistinct).

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: So you'd agree, wouldn't you, that this was a meeting
where there was significant division between councillors?

MR HARLE: Yes. Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you would also agree - do you agree that
Councillor Ristevski did not debate the motion?

MR HARLE: Did not debate the motion, did you say?

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Did not debate for or against the motion.

MR HARLE: I don't recollect, to be honest. He may have - no, I don't - Councillor
Ristevski rarely - rarely speaks, actually. So that's fair to say he may not have
debated.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And he didn't move the motion?

MR HARLE: He did not move the motion?

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: He didn't move the original motion? We can go back
to the minutes, if you like, the original motion.

MR HARLE: [ moved - I seconded the -

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: You seconded the motion. It was moved by
Councillor Macnaught?

MR HARLE: Yes.
MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you seconded it?

MR HARLE: Yes, I did.
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MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And the motion of urgency was moved by Councillor
Macnaught, as recorded in the minutes?

MR HARLE: Yes, that - what's reported in the minutes I agree with.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And I think you've accepted that Councillor Ristevski
hardly spoke during that meeting.

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And so you agree, don't you, that the division that
was occurring at that meeting was not caused by Councillor Ristevski, was it?

MR HARLE: No, I don't think so.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: So your evidence yesterday, I suggest to you - that
when you said "council is not functional due to a rogue councillor and division has
been caused by a rogue councillor" - was not accurate, was it?

MS RICHARDSON: I object to that question. Just wait. There are so many
rolled-up premises in that question it's not fair. This councillor doesn't have a
barrister representing him. There are about seven different elements within that
question that needs to be broken down. It's not fair -

COMMISSIONER: I reject the question in that form.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: May it please. You gave evidence yesterday that
division was caused by a rogue councillor?

MR HARLE: I don't remember saying it like that. What I implied is that the current
state of council is caused by a rogue councillor. And if I recollect correctly, I spoke
about notices of motions that lapsed that were raised by Councillor Ristevski - they
were not seconded, and consequently they lapsed. Fairly certain I stated that, and
that's what I was referring to, in terms of we have a rogue councillor that puts up that
kind of material and consequently causes issues.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: May it please. Just moving, then, to the last topic.
You gave some evidence yesterday about the April 2024 budget.

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you said in your evidence yesterday - the
transcript reference is T-2309, lines 13 to 22 - and you say at about line 16:

"I suggested that this is a fake budget - that's what I called it."

Do you recall giving that evidence?
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MR HARLE: That's correct. Yes, I did.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And you said it was a fake budget because, you said
the property - you're saying the budget is a surplus for something that hadn't been
sold.

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Or shouldn't - apologies. Thank you to my learned
friend:

"How can you say the budget is in surplus for something you haven't sold?"
And 2024 was an election year, wasn't it?
MR HARLE: Yes.

MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: And it was important for the council, in an
election year, to have a positive budget, wasn't it?

MR HARLE: Absolutely.
MS HAMILTON-JEWELL: Thank you, Commissioner. Nothing further.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Anybody else seek leave to ask the councillor any
questions? No. Anything arising?

MS McDONALD: Yes. Thank you. Can we just pick up on an answer that you gave
a short time ago. You were being asked some questions about the meeting on
14 October.

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You agreed that Councillor Ristevski did not debate either for or
against the motion. Do you remember giving that - agreeing with that?

MR HARLE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then you said - my note was, "Peter" - "Councillor Ristevski
rarely speaks at meetings." Do you remember giving that answer?

MR HARLE: I could have said that, yes. And my recollection is that, yes,
Councillor Ristevski rarely speaks at meetings. He does - he does speak on issues,
but he keeps it very short.
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MS McDONALD:

All right. Can I just first establish that - your evidence that

Councillor Ristevski rarely speaks at meetings, you're not confining yourself to what
you observed at the meeting of 14 October, but that's an observation of the
councillor's conduct at other meetings?

MR HARLE: In general, yes.

MS McDONALD:

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD:

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD:

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD:

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD:

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD:
referring to another

In general. He does put forward notices of motion?

He speaks on those notices of motion?

He often will raise a question with notice?

He speaks in respect of that question with notice?

So he's speaking in respect of those matters?

When you said he rarely speaks at council meetings, were you
area or regular discussion or debate at council meetings, where

you observe the councillor doesn't usually participate or speak?

MR HARLE: My view of Councillor Ristevski is that he does ask questions and
asks further questions in order to get the answer that he's obviously asking for, and
he will speak in favour of his motions if they are seconded.

MS McDONALD:

MR HARLE: And

Yes.

- but in general on other matters, unless there are issues of

finance, which is his expertise, he doesn't ask other questions.

MS McDONALD:

All right. So your observation and impression is, on other

matters - for example, if a matter arises about the financial position of council, he
may become involved in debate or discussion about that?

MR HARLE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: But your impression is on other matters he generally doesn't
participate?

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Yesterday -

COMMISSIONER: Doesn't participate in oral debate -

MS McDONALD: Yes. I'm sorry.

COMMISSIONER: That's what you mean, councillor?

MR HARLE: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Doesn't participate in the oral debate.

MS McDONALD: Yesterday you were shown some emails and a number of
documents. You were not a party to the emails, you were not - and your evidence
was that you were never - had never seen before draft performance agreements.

MR HARLE: Yes, I recollect the ones you showed. Yes, I had not seen them before.

MS McDONALD: It was Mr Parish for the council who showed you - asked you
those questions and -

MR HARLE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, your evidence was that after Mr Ajaka was appointed he
had a right to nominate a councillor, in a sense, to represent him -

MR HARLE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: - when trying to develop or determine KPIs.
MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Were you ever contacted by anybody within the bureaucracy of
the council on behalf of Mr Ajaka to have input into those KPIs?

MR HARLE: I don't recollect that other than Mr Ajaka asking me directly.
MS McDONALD: To assume that role?
MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you agreed with that?
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MR HARLE: And I agreed.

MS McDONALD: Commissioner, there is just one topic I didn't raise in chief.
We've heard evidence on it before. It is quite a small topic. I don't anticipate it will
be controversial, but can I have leave?

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: [ want to just ask you some questions which arise from a
newspaper article which was published on 18 March 2023. And you may recall that
was in the lead-up to the last state election.

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Could document INQ.011.001.0005 be brought up. 0005. Excuse
me for a minute. I think I messed it up. INQ.011.001.0005. Mr Harle, this is an
article from the Sydney Morning Herald. You can see it's dated 18 March.

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: 2023. I'll just take you to two paragraphs. The first paragraph:

"A Liberal mayor who backed his wife's bid to become a party candidate in
south-west Sydney has promised his council and the Coalition would jointly fund a
$50 million sports facility."

See that?

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, could we go to page 2, please. And the first
paragraph there:

"The package [is] to upgrade fields and develop a new aquatic centre was announced
by the duo at a sports club last Sunday, after the Liberal Party's official campaign
launch at Liverpool Catholic Club."

MR HARLE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And do you recall that the new aquatic centre was going to be
the Hammondyville pool?

MR HARLE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Before this announcement by the mayor on 17 March and then
the reporting in the Sydney Morning Herald, did you know that this was going to be
announced by the mayor?

MR HARLE: No.

MS McDONALD: Had it ever, to your knowledge, been discussed at council?

MR HARLE: No.

MS McDONALD: They were the additional questions.

COMMISSIONER: Does anything arise out of any of that last passage? No. All
right. Councillor, that completes your evidence. As you are probably aware, I'm
being asked not to formally release any witness from their summons for the moment,
but for now that completes your evidence. I'm very grateful for your attendance and
assistance over the three days that you've been here, it's been very useful. You're free
to go for the moment. Thank you.

MR HARLE: Thank you, Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW

MS McDONALD: I call Matthew Harte.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Councillor, do you wish to take an oath or an affirmation?
MR HARTE: Oath, please.

<MATTHEW WILLIAM HARTE, SWORN

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Please state your full name.

MR HARTE: Matthew William Harte.

MS McDONALD: And your current occupation?

MR HARTE: An electorate officer at Parliament of New South Wales.

MS McDONALD: Mr Harte, you are currently a councillor on Liverpool City
Council?

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: You were elected for the first time in the election held
in September 20247

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And you're affiliated with the Liberal Party?

COMMISSIONER: Councillor, could I trouble you to keep your voice up just a
touch?

MR HARTE: Sorry. Sorry. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And maybe if you speak into the -

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - microphone. I think that helps amplify.
COMMISSIONER: Thank you.

MS McDONALD: At the time of your election, were you 22 years of age?
MR HARTE: Yes, I was.

MS McDONALD: You were born in the year 2001?

MR HARTE: I was.

MS McDONALD: Excuse me. Now, you're obviously a member of the Liberal
Party?

MR HARTE: Correct.
MS McDONALD: When did you join the Liberal Party?
MR HARTE: I joined the Liberal Party in early 2020.

MS McDONALD: And do you join the Liberal Party proper or do you join the
Young Liberals, or are they -

MR HARTE: So - yes. Being a member of - so I joined the Young Liberals, which
is a - you're considered a financial member of the New South Wales Liberal Party.
That's (indistinct).

MS McDONALD: All right. So you actually become - you join the Liberal Party,
but at that stage is your activity primarily through the Young Liberals?
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MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: Do you attend branch meetings -

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: At that stage as well?

MR HARTE: I think it was - it was during COVID, so I don't think many branch
activ@ties were occurring at the time, so - but yes, I do actively attend branch
meetings.

MS McDONALD: All right. Now, you live in Peakhurst?

MR HARTE: Peakhurst Heights.

MS McDONALD: Yes. Sorry. And in 2020 you were living in Peakhurst Heights?
MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: And that's not within the Liverpool City Council area?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: When you said that you - this is probably after COVID - you
then started attending branch meetings?

MR HARTE: Yes, roughly around that time. Yes. Sometime during 2020.

MS McDONALD: And were those branch meetings particular branches within
Peakhurst Heights?

MR HARTE: Yes. That's probably the best way to characterise it, yes.

MS McDONALD: Do you come from a political family? That is, a family that's
interested in politics?

MR HARTE: Not really. Obviously my family take a keen interest in current affairs
but not politically active, in terms of being members of political parties and stuff like
that.

MS McDONALD: Do you have siblings?

MR HARTE: One brother.

MS McDONALD: And is he actively involved?
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MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: So it's you alone?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: All right. And were you one of those people - and I think it's
often very - can be common that you become interested in politics sometimes in high
school?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: You debate at high school?

MR HARTE: I didn't debate, but I think it was my year 11 and 12 economics class
that got me interested in politics.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Now, you spoke about your economic classes in year 11
and 12. Did that also spur you on to your tertiary education?

MR HARTE: Yes. I'm currently studying a Bachelor of Economics at the University
of Sydney.

MS McDONALD: And at the moment are you trying to complete that?

MR HARTE: I am, but there's a public inquiry at the moment. So once that's over
and done with, yes, I'll - I've got one unit left. So I look forward to completing it.

MS McDONALD: And you described your occupation as an electorate officer -
MR HARTE: Electorate officer.

MS McDONALD: - is that correct?

MR HARTE: Correct. Yes.

MS McDONALD: For - and that's for a state parliamentarian?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: And who's the state parliamentarian?

MR HARTE: Tina Ayyad.

MS McDONALD: And she's related to Ned Mannoun?
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MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: She's his wife - or he's her husband.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And how long have you been working for her in that position?
MR HARTE: Since April 2023.

MS McDONALD: So just after the state election?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: Where she was elected for the first time?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: And the electorate officer - are you primarily located at the
electoral office?

MR HARTE: Correct. Yes.
MS McDONALD: You don't really - do you do much work from Macquarie Street?

MR HARTE: If Parliament's sitting I might accompany my boss, but that's 16
weeks out of 52 during a calendar year. So it just depends.

MS McDONALD: All right. So with Peakhurst height - Heights, I'm sorry, you
became a branch member of a branch in that area?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you continue to be active in that area and in that branch?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, you - as you've given evidence, you stood for election

in September twenty-twenty - sorry, 2024 council election on a ticket of candidates
affiliated with the Liberal Party?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: And you were successfully elected, and it was for the North
Ward?

MR HARTE: Correct.
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MS McDONALD: Not living in the area, how were you able to stand for election in
Liverpool City Council?

MR HARTE: I was on the non-residential roll.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And the non-residential roll, putting it broadly, it requires
a person to either - own rateable property within the council jurisdiction?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And is that how you qualified?
MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: And what property was that?

MR HARTE: I'm not sure. I think it was - it was a - it was a local business on
Memorial Avenue in Liverpool.

MS McDONALD: I missed that. I couldn't hear you.

MR HARTE: Sorry. It was a local business located on Memorial Avenue in
Liverpool.

MS McDONALD: Memorial Avenue. And you own it?

MR HARTE: No. So essentially - if there is a business owner that has a

property - for example, it's a butcher - they can nominate someone else to vote on the
business's behalf. Essentially, that's how it essentially works. I'm not sure the exact
wording, but that's how it essentially works, and I was nominated to be - vote on that
business's behalf and that's how I got -

MS McDONALD: And what was the business?

MR HARTE: It was called Hafda Butchery, I think.

MS McDONALD: Hafda?

MR HARTE: Hafda, yes.

MS McDONALD: And who's the proprietor of that business?

MR HARTE: A gentleman named Tarek Hafda.

MS McDONALD: Sorry, who?
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MR HARTE: A gentleman named Tarek Hafda.

MS McDONALD: Could you spell that for us?

MR HARTE: I don't want to get it wrong. I'm not quite - maybe T-a-r-a-k -
MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: - I think. And Hafda is H-a-f-d-a.

MS McDONALD: And how was that organised?

MR HARTE: So I know that local business. I think I met Mr Hafda pretty - you
know, probably five years ago and I said, "If you want to vote" - "if your" - "if you
want to, you can obviously nominate someone to vote on your business's behalf. I'm
happy to" - and he agreed to that.

MS McDONALD: All right. But it was more than vote on the business's behalf, it
was actually, in addition, going onto the Liberal Party ticket for the election?

MR HARTE: It would be to get on the electoral roll -
MS McDONALD: Yes.
MR HARTE: - to be eligible to run as a candidate in that LGA.

MS McDONALD: Now, since becoming a councillor, what training or induction
have you gone through?

MR HARTE: When we were first elected we went through - we had a Code of
Meeting Practice and Code of Conduct induction. I think that was the first day after
we were declared elected as councillors, and progressively throughout the last

12 months we have received other draining. I can't recall them all off the top of my
head right now, but, like, we had WHS training recently. I think during our - the first
round of the budget workshop we had staff go through, you know, budgeting 101,
that type of thing. Sorry, is this a fresh glass?

MS McDONALD: But when you said you received training in the Code of Meeting
Practice and the Code of Conduct, your recollection - was that training provided as
part of an induction?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And that induction - you were elected in September. And is your
recollection that that training took place shortly after?

MR HARTE: Yes. After we were declared elected as councillors. Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Yes. And you've been elected to a council by the community - by
members of the community, and there are other members or other councillors who
have been elected by members of the community but who may be affiliated with a
different political party. That's correct?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Or may be independent?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Or may be -

MR HARTE: Sorry. In the case of 2024, I don't think there was an independent
candidate technically. So there were four - sorry, five Liberals elected, including the
mayor.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: There were four Labor. Councillor Ristevski was representing the Our
Local Community party. So that was a political party, so it's not technically -

MS McDONALD: Sorry, who did you say he was representing?
MR HARTE: The Our Local Community party.

MS McDONALD: Are you sure about that?

MR HARTE: Yes. I'm - yes.

MS McDONALD: All right.

COMMISSIONER: [s that a registered party, as opposed to just the name of a
ticket?

MR HARTE: I think it is a -

COMMISSIONER: Is that what you mean?

MR HARTE: - registered party because they run in other LGAs. I could

be - actually, it might not be a registered party, but it was under a banner that was run

in different Local Government Areas.

MS McDONALD: Okay.
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MR HARTE: And then the Liverpool - Councillor Harle was part of the Liverpool
Community Independents Team, which is a registered political party, from my
understanding.

MS McDONALD: Yes. Okay. But if Councillor Ristevski was really only
campaigning under a banner of Our Local Community party, then he's not really
associated with a registered party, he's there as an independent?

MR HARTE: I wouldn't describe it - look, I don't know the exact wording in the
Electoral Act or what the New South Wales Electoral Commission go by, but I - he
was either a minor party or independent or could be just, like, a banner that - like, a
brand banner that some candidates run under, as - you know, they might be
independent but they call themselves Our Local Community.

MS McDONALD: All right. With a council with councillors with that difference in
who they represent - sorry, [ withdraw that. With a council with that make-up of
councillors, it's inevitable that there are going to be differences in opinion between
you?

MR HARTE: Absolutely.

MS McDONALD: And within our democratic system, it is part of the system that
there should be - I think the High Court's described it as "an implied freedom of
political communication". Do you agree?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you know that term? You've heard that term before?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And basically, it means that not only the councillors but also
members of the community should be able to debate issues. You agree?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: Put forward different points of view?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Different perspectives. And indeed, at times that debate can
become robust?

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: But there should be limitations to that aspect of debate, in that it
shouldn't, for example, be derogatory based on race, gender, maybe sexual
preference, et cetera?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So you agree with that?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And the way that our democracy has developed over about the
last 10 years is that often the debate or expression of particular stances or views
occurs through social media?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You have your own social media Facebook page as a councillor?
MR HARTE: No, I do not.

MS McDONALD: You don't?

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Is that unusual for councillors on Liverpool City Council?
MR HARTE: I think a majority of councillors have a public page.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: I don't think Councillor Monaghan has a public page. I don't think
Councillor Adjei has a public page. I don't think Councillor Karnib has a public
page. So those are the ones I can think of off the top of my head, but yes. So there

are some of us that do and some of us that don't have a public page.

MS McDONALD: Do you use other means of social media? Like - I'll be
old-fashioned and call it Twitter - or X?

MR HARTE: A personal account. I - I've got a - | have a personal Facebook
account and, yes, I do have a personal Twitter account, I think. I'm not sure.

MS McDONALD: But not - the Facebook pages we have seen - for example, we
saw one yesterday that Councillor Harle maintains on Facebook and it's the
Councillor Harle -

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: - Facebook - Harle, I'm sorry, Facebook page. You don't have
anything like a Councillor Harte Facebook page?

MR HARTE: No. No.

MS McDONALD: You don't have a Councillor Harte Twitter account?

MR HARTE: No. No.

MS McDONALD: Or a Councillor Harte -

MR HARTE: Instagram?

MS McDONALD: - Instagram?

MR HARTE: No. No, I don't.

MS McDONALD: But you might, in a - a personally - private citizen -

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - have those social media accounts?

MR HARTE: And I try to stay away from politics on those.

MS McDONALD: On those. Okay.

MR HARTE: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: I don't think anything turns on this, but I'm just curious as to
why, given the prevalence of social media and political discourse generally. Is there
any particular reason why?

MR HARTE: I don't think it's productive to engage in political discourse online
sometimes, and I think I - going into the election - the result of the election, I - I
figured out pretty quick that, you know, it could get, you know, more than robust
online. It could get a bit nasty and dirty, so I just chose not to have a public page
online. But I - I do have my details on the council website if constituents want to
reach out to me.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. There's contact details for -

MR HARTE: Yes. Correct.

COMMISSIONER: - all of - you and all of your colleagues?

MR HARTE: That's right. Yes.
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MS McDONALD: And from that answer, you can see the distinction
between - there can be robust debate and then debate that may become, in your
words, nasty or dirty.

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: But the robust debate is allowable and should be encouraged?
MR HARTE: Absolutely.

MS McDONALD: And an example of such a robust debate could be where one
councillor, for example, is concerned about the financial circumstances of council?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And makes a post or some kind of announcement that, for
example, the deficit - the anticipated surplus of $800,000 might now be a deficit of
just over $14 million and "I'm concerned about that"?

MR HARTE: Of course, yes.

MS McDONALD: And if you read that and didn't agree with what was being put
forward, if you did engage in social media or by other means, you can debate, "Well,
look, that's not going to be the case," or, "We've got" - "Council's actually got it
under control. It's not going to have a detrimental effect," things like that. You agree
with that?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And in raising an issue or a topic that somebody - a councillor
puts forward, it's not necessary in their post or when they raise it to refer to all
evidence that they're relying upon or anything like that? You can just express an
opinion, "This has happened, I'm concerned with it."

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Or, "I'm concerned with it for these reasons"?

MR HARTE: If you - yes. Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: If it's a topic or an issue that becomes relevant - for example, is
raised at a council meeting and there's going to be debate about it - so either via a
question with notice or a notice of motion - it may be necessary in the material put to

the council meeting to have evidence or justification for the issue being raised?

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Agree with that?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Would you just excuse me. Could we just have the door open,
just to circulate a little bit of air?

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Yes. I think there were some - there are works being done
in the building. I think there was something going on outside, which is probably why
it was closed.

MS McDONALD: Could we just see, yes, if -

COMMISSIONER: Yes, of course. We'll keep it open as much as we can, given
what's going to be happening outside today.

MS McDONALD: Yes. Have you reviewed a recent publication, I think through the
OLG, of Free Speech in Local Government in New South Wales?

MR HARTE: I'm aware of the document, but I don't think I've gone through it
completely.

MS McDONALD: All right. Could document LCC.012.001.0086 be brought up,
please. And it can be live streamed. Sorry, I keep on looking at that screen. All right.
(Indistinct) the document here. You can see the first page, Mr Harte, "Free speech in
local government in New South Wales", "A guideline", June 2025. Is that the
document that you thought that you'd seen but you haven't reviewed in detail?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Have you actually, like, looked at it, flipped through it or -
MR HARTE: Honestly, I don't remember. I know it exists but I - [ know - I might
have received an email about it, but I don't remember if I actually - that's - I'm not

quite sure, to be honest.

MS McDONALD: All right. When you say you think you received an email, was
that an email from somebody within council?

MR HARTE: If I did, then yes - in all likelihood, yes.
MS McDONALD: Can you recall who sent it?
MR HARTE: No, I - no, I don't. I - but it could have been, you know - like, I - could

have been a media release that I might have seen. I'm not quite sure. I don't - [ know
the document exists, but I don't know when I've seen it.
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MS McDONALD: All right. I'll just take you to the introduction, which I think is on
about page 4.

COMMISSIONER: Was this issued under 23A? This a chief - departmental -
MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: - chief executive 23 A guideline?

MS McDONALD: Yes. If you look at the introduction - and you can see:

"The recent review of the councillor conduct framework and concerns that some
councils may have implemented their Codes of Conduct in a way that unduly
constrains councillors' ability to engage freely with the community has highlighted
the need to provide practical guidance to councils on what free speech means in the
context of ... Local Government."

You see that?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Then in the next paragraph it refers to:

"In a broad sense political communication relates to any form of campaigning around
a discussion or decision."

A reference to:

"... an implied public trust that political communication to support debate will be
fair."

And then:

"Unfortunately, where the debate is not fair and includes victimisation or vilification,
that public trust is quickly lost."

And then it goes on, you can see:
"... guideline provides guidance on the following".

And the first dot point is that implied freedom of political communication that you
know about.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Then:
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"Why the ability to engage freely with the community is central to a councillor's role
as an elected rep".

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Then if we can go back to the top of the page, to the next
column:

"The relevant provisions of the Model Code of Conduct ... that recognise the
importance of public comment by councillors and how they should be applied by
councils to ensure that they do not unduly inhibit free speech."

Then I'll just jump over the next dot point. Then:

"The meeting rules constraining what can be said at council and committee meetings,
how they can be applied and the relationship between these and the enforcement
mechanisms available under the councils' codes of conduct."

And then:

"How council media and social media policies should be applied".

And then the final part of that introduction in answer to the Commissioner's question
is:

"The guideline has been issued under section 23A ... [and] councils and council
officials must take it into consideration when exercising their functions."

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So if you haven't read the document, it's - probably no

point taking you through it at the moment. But the points that were raised in the
introduction - for example, the ability to engage freely with the committee is central
to a councillor's role; you would agree with that?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: The other dot points - for example:

"The Model Code of Conduct recognises the importance of public comment".

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Question about:
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"The meeting rules constraining what can be said at council and committee meetings,
how they can be applied and the relationship between these and enforcement
mechanisms available under councils' codes of conduct."

And you'd agree that there can, at times, be tension between those?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then:

"How council media and social media policies should be applied".

COMMISSIONER: Are you leaving that document?

MS McDONALD: I'm going to come back to it after, but if you want to ask
something - sorry.

COMMISSIONER: At the risk of jumping ahead, have you had a briefing or a
workshop on this document?

MR HARTE: On this one specifically, no.

COMMISSIONER: And the issues raised in it?

MR HARTE: Not that I'm aware of. Sorry. There might have been - and I'm not
sure because I didn't attend. We did pass a social media policy - or changes to our
social media policy very recently, and my understanding is it did go to a councillor
workshop session. And elements of this document would have been intertwined in
our social media policy. So I'm not aware of a briefing directly relating to this
document but it might have been raised -

COMMISSIONER: It might have been raised in that context?

MR HARTE: - during that discussion during that workshop.

COMMISSIONER: I think, from your answer - you said you weren't at that
briefing about the social media policy -

MR HARTE: No, I wasn't. No.

MS McDONALD: And, Mr Harte, I think the evidence before the inquiry is that the
new social media policy was released in May or passed in May.

MR HARTE: Yes, something like that.

MS McDONALD: While this is dated June. So that -
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MR HARTE: Okay. Yes. I might be incorrect about that, so -

MS McDONALD: And also, the social media policy that you refer to - there might
be some overlap with this policy, but just by looking at the introduction and those dot
points, this policy appears to be raising wider issues than council's social media
policy?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Can I just return to your involvement with the Liberal Party.

In - when did you start - sorry, I withdraw that. You've given evidence that you live
at Peakhurst Heights. You seem now to be quite integrally involved with aspects of
politics within the Liberal - sorry, within the Liverpool area, being a councillor on
council, working for a local politician, et cetera. When did you become involved
with Liverpool Liberal politics?

MR HARTE: I - someone introduced - someone that was in the Liberal Party
introduced me to Ned Mannoun late 2020, I think.

MS McDONALD: And I just missed the beginning of that answer. Somebody -
MR HARTE: In the Liberal Party, yes.

MS McDONALD: And who was that?

MR HARTE: Her name was Julia Kokic.

MS McDONALD: Kerkitch?

MR HARTE: Kokic.

MS McDONALD: Kerkesh or -

MR HARTE: Kokic. It's - her surname is K-o0-k-i-c.

MS McDONALD: And Ms Kokic was another - was also a member of the Liberal
Party?

MR HARTE: At the time, yes.
MS McDONALD: And how did you know her?
MR HARTE: She signed me up to the Liberal Party in - at university.

MS McDONALD: Right. Okay. So this was when you were studying for your
economics degree. And you became involved, what, with student politics, was it, or -

LCC Inquiry - 22.10.2025 P-2382 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR HARTE: Yes. I was involved in student politics.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And that involved - being involved in student politics,
being affiliated with some kind of Liberal Party on campus?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And you met Ms Kokic?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then - were you already a member of the Liberal Party at
that stage or did she encourage you -

MR HARTE: No, she - yes, no, she was the one that encouraged me to join the
Liberal Party.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And as a result of that encouragement, you joined?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And also she introduced you to Mr Mannoun?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: In what - where were the - what were the circumstances in which
she introduced you to Mr Mannoun?

MR HARTE: So I think it essentially was - so Julia lives in the Liverpool - or lived
in the Liverpool Local Government Area and she said, "I want to introduce you to
someone that's, you know, very" - "that's involved in the Liberal Party out my way,"
and, yes, we had coffee or lunch, the three of us, December two thousand - sorry,
December (indistinct).

MS McDONALD: So you've met Mr Mannoun at that time. Did that lead to further
involvement with the Liberal Party within the Liverpool Local Government Area?

MR HARTE: Yes. So he was talking about how he was interested in running

for - running in the Local Government elections that were supposed to be held

in - sorry, it was September 2021 at the time, and then the election got delayed

to December, and he said, "You know, if you want to get some experience or learn
about the Liberal Party" - to, you know, get involved, I suppose, with him. And, yes,
I took that opportunity.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Now, again with dates - that was the delayed election, and
I think ultimately it was conducted in December 2021.
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MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: And in the campaign leading up to that election, you were
involved with the Liberal Party's candidates for both wards?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And just broadly to begin with, in what capacity were you
involved in that - in the campaign for the December 21 election?

MR HARTE: So there was a team of us that - election campaigns are - you know,
they're multifaceted. You have - trying to get people out there, doorknocking - or not
doorknocking for that election because of COVID, but letterboxing, handing out
flyers at train stations, that type of thing - coordinating those types of activities.
Mail-outs, social media. So obviously there's a lot going on at the same time.

MS McDONALD: You described it as multifaceted, and the examples of the
different jobs that you just gave - was it a matter that if you were part of the team
you were doing all of those?

MR HARTE: Yes. I think there was a few of us - a couple of us involved. Like,

the - these things aren't very organised. They - you know, it's like if something needs
to be done, you just go get it done -

MS McDONALD: You just do it.

MR HARTE: - type of thing. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And were there campaign headquarters for the Liberal Party
campaign for that election?

MR HARTE: Yes. There was an office.

MS McDONALD: And where was that?

MR HARTE: It was on Terminus Street in Liverpool.
MS McDONALD: Did you say Turner Street?

MR HARTE: Terminus.

MS McDONALD: Terminus. And to your recollection, was it some kind of office
that was leased just for that period leading up to the election?

MR HARTE: I don't - we used it to - you know, for storage and - you know, there
was a couple of desks set up. It was a very rudimentary set-up. I don't know if it was
for the entire building or, you know - we just used a couple of rooms, I think.
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MS McDONALD: All right. As part of this campaign?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Would that be an appropriate time?

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Councillor, we're going to take our mid-morning break.
We're going to break for about 20 minutes. Feel free to stretch your legs and get
some fresh air. If you wouldn't mind being back just before five to 12, I'd be most
grateful.

MR HARTE: No worries. Thank you very much.

COMMISSIONER: Adjourn till five to 12.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 11.36 AM

<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 12.03 PM

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Yes -

MS McDONALD: Sorry.

COMMISSIONER: - Mr Andrews.

MR ANDREWS: Commissioner, may I just raise something as a matter of
courtesy?

COMMISSIONER: Yes.
MR ANDREWS: I'm afraid I'll have to leave the bar table shortly.

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MR ANDREWS: Mr Read, R-e-a-d, will take over as council's representative in the

room.
COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MR ANDREWS: And Mr Emmett will still be appearing via AVL.
COMMISSIONER: Thank you very much. No problem at all. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, Mr Harte, before the break I was asking you some

questions about your involvement in the Liberty Party campaign for the council
elections that were held in December 2021.

LCC Inquiry - 22.10.2025 P-2385 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you said that "there was a team of us". I think you described
it as multifaceted. You indicated that the type of work that the team would be doing
included doorknocking within -

MR HARTE: Not that election. Yes.

MS McDONALD: - COVID restraints. Sorry?

MR HARTE: Not that election, but in general for election campaigns. Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. Handing out flyers at train stations. You talked about a
mail-out. What's involved with a mail-out?

MR HARTE: You know, during elections candidates can send letters to constituents
to their letterbox and - you know, that might talk about their election platform, things
that - their priorities, that type of stuff.

MS McDONALD: All right. This may sound a very bizarre question, but with a
mail-out you have some kind of pamphlet or letter that's printed on behalf of the
candidate?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then that's put in an envelope and then posted or somehow
delivered to constituents?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: That's what we're talking about?

MR HARTE: Yes. Pretty much, yes.

MS McDONALD: And then also you raised social media.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, in the lead-up to the election, I would - was it the case that
activity within this campaign office became busier in the lead-up to the December
poll?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You were studying at uni at the time?
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MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So did you combine - you probably weren't attending campus.
Was it all being done online at that stage?

MR HARTE: I think it was online, actually, or - they have like a hybrid model
where you can go in or do it online.

MS McDONALD: But your life at that time was attending uni lectures or tutorials,
either - through that hybrid model, plus volunteering at the campaign office?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Can you give an indication of how often you'd be at the
campaign office?

MR HARTE: As time got closer to the election, you know, spending all day there
type of thing. Like, it just depends on what work had to be done and trying to
balance it with personal life, university.

MS McDONALD: Yes. But is it fair to say you were at the campaign office often?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you described it as a team. Was there, like, a team leader or
a person in charge of the campaign?

MR HARTE: There - you know, there were a couple of us. Like, we - I wouldn't say
there was like a - a leader proper. But, you know, obviously all the councillors that
were in winnable positions were heavily involved - myself - there was another
gentleman named Aaron Colley that was helping.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, I missed -

MR HARTE: Sorry.

MS McDONALD: - that gentleman's name.

MR HARTE: Aaron Colley. He was involved.

MS McDONALD: So he was part of the team and an active member of the team?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Yes. You said that councillor candidates would all - would be at
the campaign office?

LCC Inquiry - 22.10.2025 P-2387 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. You've referred to Mr Colley. Any other of the team
members that you can remember?

MR HARTE: I think that was, like, probably the main group of people.

MS McDONALD: So the candidate councillors, yourself and Mr Colley?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And your recollection is there really wasn't - I think you
described it as a leader proper - that a decision - what, you would arrive at the office,
work out what had to be done that day, and whoever was there - the division of work
was whoever turned up and whoever had some free time?

MR HARTE: Pretty much.

MS McDONALD: Do you - did you have, like, the campaign official or officer for
the campaign? Sorry, I haven't explained that very well. Often you will hear, with
elections, where there's some kind of document produced, it's - you have the,
"Authorised by X."

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And with state and federal elections, if it's a telephone - sorry,
television ad, you have the very, kind of, quick garbled words at the end,
"Authorised by", blah, blah, blah, "on behalf of the Labor Party."

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So there's usually identified with a political party kind of an
authorised campaign officer. So you know the kind of role that I'm talking about?

MR HARTE: Yes. No, I understand your question. I think in the case of - in 2021
the material was authorised by the lead candidate, which was Ned Mannoun.

MS McDONALD: Mr Mannoun?

MR HARTE: Yes. From what [ remember, yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Did you get much assistance from head office?
MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: Right. I would assume - what about funding for the campaign?
Was that directly made to the Liberal Party within Liverpool or -
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MR HARTE: Donations go to the - my understanding, the donations go to the New
South Wales division of the Liberal Party. It doesn't go to a specific candidate. I'm
not sure on the mechanics of how -

MS McDONALD: Okay. All right. But your understanding is it goes to the New
South Wales division. And then I assume they distribute it to certain candidates?

MR HARTE: Yes, something like that. Yes.
MS McDONALD: Is -

MR HARTE: I'm not sure of the mechanics of it, but generally head office don't
really get involved in Local Government elections.

MS McDONALD: Okay. After the election was over in December 2021, to your
knowledge was the campaign office closed?

MR HARTE: (Indistinct).
MS McDONALD: All right. Did you attend it again?
MR HARTE: I had to clean up after the election, pretty much. I - yes.

MS McDONALD: So in that immediate period after the election was declared, you
were involved in the clean-up of the office?

MR HARTE: Yes. It was a bit of a mess, so - I can't remember a time other than
that.

MS McDONALD: But other than that period of cleaning up, have you re-attended
that office?

MR HARTE: Yes. It was - it was - it's been used as a campaign office in 2024 as
well. Yes.

MS McDONALD: So you would have been attending there quite often during that
period as a candidate?

MR HARTE: It was a very short campaign because of the - the circumstances
leading up to the election, where the Minister attempted to suspend the council and
delay the election. So the actual campaign only went for nine days, I think. It was a
very short one. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And being a member of the campaign team in December 2021, if
some kind of administrative issue arose after the election, would you be contacted?

LCC Inquiry - 22.10.2025 P-2389 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR HARTE: Can I ask what you mean by "administrative issue"?

MS McDONALD: Well, you know when you're a candidate for a local council
election, the Electoral Commission requires you to complete some documents for a
period of up to a year after you stood for election?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And indeed, some of those documents, if you've got nothing to
declare, are entitled, for example, "Nil disclosure." You know of those?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And it's - the Electoral Commission, even if you've got nothing
to disclose, still want these documents completed.

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And filed with them.
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So that's what I was thinking about when I said to you if there
were any kind of administrative -

MR HARTE: So, like, the post-election obligations?
MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: Yes. Honestly, I can't recall for the Liberal Party. It might be
something that head office looks after. I don't remember. I'd have to go back and
check.

MS McDONALD: All right. You don't recall personally - or the Liberal Party
candidates in the December 21 election - filling out forms or anything like that for
this post-election reporting?

MR HARTE: I - yes, I'm not sure. I don't remember, to be honest.

MS McDONALD: As part of the team in December '21, did you ever come

across - it's a receipt book issued by the Electoral Commission, which records
when - for example, there's a financial donation by somebody. So for example, if
somebody just walked in off the street and said, you know, "I really like your
candidates for the North Ward, I'd like to donate $100 for the campaign," that there
would be a completion of, like, a receipt which - the receipt book comes from the
Electoral Commission?
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MR HARTE: I don't know if it comes from the Electoral Commission, but I'm
aware that there are obligations - I'm aware - like, in terms of your - for a candidate's
post-election obligations, I'm sure they have to maintain some form of
recordkeeping.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: But I'm not sure if that - the receipt book is issued by the Electoral
Commission, per se.

MS McDONALD: All right. Can I just ask you, have - did you come across some
kind of receipt book in November/December 2021 for the recording over, as I said,
those kind of ad hoc donations by a member of the community?

MR HARTE: Of the Liberal Party?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: All right. Did you come across anything like that for - in any
other circumstances for that election?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What did you come across? I've described it broadly as a receipt
book.

MR HARTE: It was for a - an independent campaign.

MS McDONALD: Okay. And I'm describing it broadly - it was a receipt book?
MR HARTE: Yes, I think so.

MS McDONALD: And when I say "receipt book" - usually there's like a carbon
copy. So you can complete one receipt, and then there's a copy that you can either

give to somebody or keep in your records or - do you know what I'm talking about?

MR HARTE: Yes, I'm pretty young, so I don't really encounter it often,
butI-1-yes,I-it's like a cheque. I haven't seen one of those in my life.

MS McDONALD: A what, sorry?
MR HARTE: A cheque. But, yes, I do know what you're talking about.

MS McDONALD: Is this age discrimination or -
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COMMISSIONER: Right.

MS McDONALD: But when you said that you knew of such an existence for an
independent candidate, you had seen something along those lines?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And did you complete it at all?

MR HARTE: I might have. I'm not sure.

MS McDONALD: I'm jumping around at the moment. I then wanted to move to a
different topic, and that was some meetings that had occurred earlier this year and
meetings that you attended in your role as a councillor.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, before you were elected as a councillor you have
obviously heard that the then CEO Mr Ajaka's employment was terminated?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And that Mr Breton was appointed acting CEO?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then that led to the council having to determine a new
permanent CEO?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And was it the case that initially - and, sorry, I'll withdraw that.
There's obviously a policy where the - or a procedure, I'm sorry, where the position's
advertised.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Candidates or people apply.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then ultimately there's a vetting of the applications, you
come down with a shortlist.

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: You may interview those, and then ultimately there's, at a
council meeting, a recommendation that candidate X be appointed.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, was it the case that the way it was going to be - and the
procedure initially anticipated, was it instead of having an appointment committee of
councillors, so like a subgroup of councillors, all the councillors were going to be
part of this -

MR HARTE: Panel.

MS McDONALD: - committee?

MR HARTE: Yes. It's the CEO recruitment and selection panel.

MS McDONALD: Thank you.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And that consisted of all - and I'm including the mayor - all 11
councillors?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, in February '20 there was a particular meeting held where
the members of the CEO recruitment panel attended.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Including you?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: I think Mr Knappick was there?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And there was also some representatives from the third party
recruitment agency.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, before that meeting on 20 February, how far did the
recruitment process get?
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MR HARTE: That's testing my memory. I don't recall whether we had settled on the
shortlist or whether a list of 10 candidates were given to the panel who deliberate -

MS McDONALD: Okay.
MR HARTE: - who should be shortlisted for interview.

MS McDONALD: Now, the meeting on the 20th, did it - one of the issues raised
was this allegation that there had been some leaking of information about the
process?

MR HARTE: Yes. It wasn't an allegation. It was leaked.
MS McDONALD: Where was it leaked?
MR HARTE: It was leaked to a social - a news outlet - a local news outlet.

MS McDONALD: All right. And who published it? Was it a journalist from a
local -

MR HARTE: Yes. I don't remember their name, but yes. It was published in an
online article and had the names in that article.

MS McDONALD: Had names of who?

MR HARTE: The - it would have been the candidates for CEO.

MS McDONALD: And, sorry, was that published in a local newspaper?

MR HARTE: It's an online outlet. It's called The Pulse. Sorry. It's called The Pulse.

MS McDONALD: All right. Now, this meeting that occurred on 20 February - and
can I just pause. Commissioner, I'm now going to ask some questions about

20 February, and it's purely about Mr Harte's observations and his - where he was at
particular points of time at that meeting. I don't know whether that requires us to
move into closed session or -

COMMISSIONER: Based on the exchange this morning, I don't think so, from

Ms Hamilton-Jewell's perspective. But Mr Emmett raised that we should do it for the
moment, and I think that's probably prudent. Did I understand you correctly this
morning, Mr Emmett?

MR EMMETT: That's our application.

COMMISSIONER: You submit I should continue to do that, at least for now, and
we can resolve the ultimate position hopefully very shortly?
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MR EMMETT: Yes, Commissioner. That's our application.
COMMISSIONER: All right. I think let's do that.
MR EMMETT: Thank you.

COMMISSIONER: Pursuant to section 12B of the Royal Commissions Act, I direct
that the next passage of the hearing take place in private, that the transcript of that
passage of hearing not be published otherwise than in accordance with the usual
directions, that those who are in the room can remain. Anybody (indistinct) now?
And we'll go into private session.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED TO PRIVATE SESSION AT 12.24 PM
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<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 12.38 PM

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Thank you.

MS McDONALD: Thank you. Mr Harte, what I was asking you about were broader
questions about the CEO recruitment committee, and you've given evidence that it
started off as this 11-member committee. Did you have some kind of outsider on

that? Like an independent outsider?

MR HARTE: Sorry. Yes, we did, and that was - it - [ don't remember his name. He
was the chair of the committee - chair of the panel.

MS McDONALD: Okay. So it would have been that person plus the 11 councillors?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then after that meeting on 20 February there was a
resolution of council. It became a smaller CEO recruitment panel?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: I asked you about if at any stage when you were involved with
the panel there was some kind of declaration of a possible conflict of interest.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And I think your answer that you commenced was something
along the lines of when the 11 candidates or the 10 candidates were -

MR HARTE: Yes. So before the shortlisting for interview we were presented

11 - the top 10 or 11 candidates, and at that point, because we didn't know the
candidates beforehand, we couldn't really make a conflict of interest declaration, but
we were given an opportunity before we discussed the shortlisting process.

MS McDONALD: All right. So however many applicants there were, it's narrowed
to about 11?

MR HARTE: That was done by the recruitment group.
MS McDONALD: Okay. So they've got 11 candidates?
MR HARTE: We were presented 11 candidates, yes.

MS McDONALD: Sorry, presented with 11 candidates.

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: And then was the idea that the CEO recruitment panel would
look at the 11 and say, "We think the ultimate shortlist should be these four," or these
five or something like that?

MR HARTE: Correct. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And it was at that time, when you saw the 11 names in the
selected candidates - that if there was any form of potential conflict of interest, it
could be raised then?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: Did you raise anything?

MR HARTE: I did.

MS McDONALD: Was that - and did other councillors raise possible conflicts of
interest?

MR HARTE: Yes, I think so. I don't remember the specifics, but I did declare a
conflict of interest.

MS McDONALD: Did you fill out a document?
MR HARTE: I did.
MS McDONALD: And it's kind of a conflict of interest document?

MR HARTE: Yes. So it was given to every member of the panel and it was up to
each panelist to declare a conflict that they felt that they had.

MS McDONALD: One of the candidates - and the ultimate successful
candidate - was Mr Breton?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Mr Breton obviously had been working as the acting CEO since,
I think, about May the previous year.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Because of that working association with him, was that the
ground that you completed the conflict of interest?

MR HARTE: It was that, plus that [ knew Jason since 2021 or (indistinct).
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MS McDONALD: And did you expand on how you had known him since - in this
document, since 2021?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And what did you say?

MR HARTE: I can't give you verbatim, obviously - I don't remember, but it was
something along the lines of that I assisted Mr Breton with an election campaign
back in 2021. It was professional in nature and did not have much - or, you know,
minimal contact with the candidate - sorry, the candidate for CEO, Jason.

MS McDONALD: Sorry, you had what?

MR HARTE: Minimal contact between - after the election in 2021 and my
subsequent election to council in 2024, besides - and I did note this - besides some

assistance with post-election obligations being disclosures.

MS McDONALD: Did you declare a possible conflict of interest in respect of any
other candidate?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Who was that?

MR HARTE: Tina Bono.

MS McDONALD: And the basis of that?

MR HARTE: That I knew her in a professional capacity since my election as a
councillor.

MS McDONALD: And that's because she - I think she was either - a director at that
point?

MR HARTE: Correct. Yes.
MS McDONALD: Anybody else?
MR HARTE: No. I didn't know any of the other candidates which I could recall.

MS McDONALD: And the declaration of this conflict of interest, that was done by
completing a document?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: And submitting the document?
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MR HARTE: It was furnished to Craig Knappick.

MS McDONALD: Was it furnished to other members of the CEO recruitment
panel?

MR HARTE: I don't know. I gave it to Mr Knappick. I don't know what happened
to it after.

MS McDONALD: Did you see any other conflict of interest document that may
have been prepared by any other councillor?

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: And at any meeting of the committee, was there any kind of
acknowledgment along the lines of, you know, "We've received conflict of interest
forms from X, Y and Z on the committee"?

MR HARTE: Honestly, I can't recall. I don't remember.

MS McDONALD: All right. I want to move back to February of this year and in the
lead-up to the council meeting that was held on February 26.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You attended that meeting?

MR HARTE: 1 did.

MS McDONALD: Could you just excuse me for a minute. Do you recall at that
meeting there was a motion concerning the attendance of the mayor at some kind of
aerotropolis conference in Hong Kong?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And that there was a notice of motion put forward which was
along the lines of the mayor can attend, even though, I think, all airfares and costs
were going to be met by the conference organisers?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then there was also a proposal that there might be another
representative from council who may attend as well.

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Right. I want to just play part of the recording of the council
meeting. It's LCC.003.001.0002.

COMMISSIONER: Will Mr Emmett be able to get this feed?
MS McDONALD: I've got no idea.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. So there's a nod saying yes. I'm told you should be able to
see this, Mr Emmett. If not, just let us know. You're on mute.

MS McDONALD: You're on mute.

MR EMMETT: Sorry, Commissioner.
COMMISSIONER: That's all right.

MR EMMETT: Sorry, Commissioner. It's not come up yet.

COMMISSIONER: No, it's being brought up now. But I'm told you should be able
to see it. But if you can't, you just let me know.

MR EMMETT: Okay.

COMMISSIONER: It'll be up in a moment.

MR EMMETT: I'm sorry.

MS McDONALD: Just while that's happening, the commission has heard - or the
inquiry, I'm sorry, has heard some evidence that councillors communicate via, like, a
WhatsApp group.

MR HARTE: In this term?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: I'm not aware of a WhatsApp group.

MS McDONALD: You're not part of -

MR HARTE: Of all the councillors?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: That doesn't exist? Within councillors who are affiliated with the
Liberal Party, do you have a WhatsApp group?
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MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And does that consist of the mayor, Ms Macnaught, Mr Adjei,
yourself? And then the final one's Mr Mannoun, is it?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: So you're members of that WhatsApp group?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Anybody else a member of it?

MR HARTE: I think the - the mayor's EA might be in it, and - I'll check. I don't

have my phone on me. I think maybe - I think maybe Betty Boustani might be in it as

well. I'd have to check.

MS McDONALD: And that's been in existence since September/October of
last year?

MR HARTE: I don't remember the exact date, but it -

MS McDONALD: Well, after you were elected.

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: It makes - if it's a WhatsApp group -

MR HARTE: Yes. It would be - it would have been after the election.
MS McDONALD: Okay.

COMMISSIONER: I think we might be having some difficulty with the vision.
Perhaps - can we return to that after lunch?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: See if we can resolve it in the break. Is that convenient?
(Indistinct) that takes you off course too much.

MS McDONALD: It was a little bit.
COMMISSIONER: Do you want me to -

MS McDONALD: Let me -
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COMMISSIONER: What time is it? Do you want me to break early and -

MS McDONALD: Come back at 10 to.

COMMISSIONER: - come back at 10 to 2?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: All right. Councillor, you will have seen we're just having a
little bit of a difficulty with the technology. To keep the flow, I'll take lunch slightly
earlier today. So we'll break for an hour. I'll see you back here at 10 to 2.

MR HARTE: Lovely. Thank you.

COMMISSIONER: And hopefully we'll get that resolved in the break. We'll
adjourn until 10 to 2.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 12.51 PM
<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 2.00 PM

COMMISSIONER: We don't have to start, but it's too hot for me to stand on the
balcony any longer. So I'm just going to sit here and - we're just waiting on Mr -

MS McDONALD: Yes.
COMMISSIONER: Yes. That's fine.

MS McDONALD: Could you excuse me?
COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Apparently he's coming back at 3.30.
COMMISSIONER: Okay.

MS McDONALD: All right.
COMMISSIONER: On we go.

MS McDONALD: Sorry, I didn't -
COMMISSIONER: That's all right.

MS McDONALD: - know that.

COMMISSIONER: That's okay.
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MS McDONALD: Mr Harte, can I just ask you a question. You spoke about the
team working on the Liberal - for the Liberal candidates for the December 2021
election.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you mentioned - was it Mr Colley?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: C-o-1-1-e-y?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And what was his first name?

MR HARTE: Aaron.

MS McDONALD: And he was a member of the Liberal Party, to your knowledge?
MR HARTE: I'm not sure if he was. He might have been. Not sure.

MS McDONALD: All right. But he was part of the team at these - this office?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: I'm going to return to this later in the afternoon, but you spoke
about your conflict of interest form that you filled out.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you, and I'm just paraphrasing, spoke about some advice
that you had provided to Mr Breton in an election campaign.

MR HARTE: Yes, something along those lines.

MS McDONALD: Right. And we'll come back to your role. To your knowledge,
did Mr Colley have any dealings with Mr Breton?

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: So to your knowledge - you had some dealings with Mr Breton,
as you've described it, providing some advice.

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Which included some advice or involvement in post-election
obligations - compliance with those.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: That's what you set out in your conflict of interest form?
MR HARTE: Yes, I don't remember the exact wording, but it was -

MS McDONALD: Along those lines?

MR HARTE: - to that effect. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And to your knowledge, you're the only person within the team
at the office to be providing that advice to Mr Breton?

MR HARTE: Well, I - to my knowledge, yes.

MS McDONALD: And with the post-election obligations - again, to your
knowledge, you're the only person who had some communications or dealings with
Mr Breton?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. We're turning back to February 2025. And I'm hoping
that the video of the meeting has - we can now access it. And it was
LCC.003.001.0002. Now, what I want to do, to try and cut back on time, is take you
to particular sections. But if in doing that you think, "Oh, look, I really need to see
more of it" -

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: - please speak up and we can accommodate that.
MR HARTE: Sure.

MS McDONALD: All right. Excuse me for a minute. There was something else [
should have taken you to. If I ask to display a document, that's not going to mess up
the video playing? Right. Could you first bring up INQ.007.001.0003. And it should
be the council agenda for the council meeting on 26 February. You can see the first

page?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And can we go through to page 126. Actually, it might be at the
bottom of page 125. I'm sorry, could you go to the bottom of 124. There we are. You
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can stop there. Can you see this is a matter number 4, mayoral attendance at this
aerotropolis conference in May in Hong Kong?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if we proceed through that document, there's eventually a
recommendation, which - if we stop there - and it's along the lines of:

"Note the invitation ... provide a determination for the attendance of the mayor ... to
present ... [at this] summit."

And then:

"Nominate a council delegate to accompany Mayor Mannoun to Hong Kong for..."
the particular summit.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, if we can then move back to the video. And if we can
commence at 2:41:10. Two hours 41 minutes. Yes. Lovely.

RECORDING PLAYED

MS McDONALD: Have we got any sound? Could I just inquire - if there's going to
be a hold-up, I'll just move to a different topic and we can come back to it.

COMMISSIONER: Why don't we do that.

MS McDONALD: All right. I apologise, Mr Harte.
MR HARTE: It's okay.

COMMISSIONER: We got halfway there.

MR HARTE: Got the video up.

MS McDONALD: We've got the vision, but I think you need to hear what's being
said.

MR HARTE: Sure.
MS McDONALD: I might move to a different topic now.

MR HARTE: Sure.
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MS McDONALD: And we'll have to return to this. Excuse me for a minute. Now,
you gave evidence this morning that although you live at Peakhurst Heights you
were able to stand as - for election as a councillor. I think your description was that it
was as a non-resident -

MR HARTE: A non-residential -

MS McDONALD: And you nominated - I think there was an address was - which
was Terminus Avenue, Liverpool, where -

MR HARTE: It was Memorial -

MS McDONALD: Memorial Avenue, I apologise. Where a particular business
operates.

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: That business, in a sense, nominated you as a person who could
vote on behalf of the business in the council election.

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: And because you were so nominated, that allowed you then
to - in addition, to stand for election as a councillor.

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: Now, you stood for North Ward?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: What is your understanding to - you know, the evidence you've
given is that your ability to stand for election is based on that particular business that
operates within Liverpool City Council area.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Does that business that nominates you as having the vote - do
they have to be within North Ward or does it not matter?

MR HARTE: I'm not sure. But the - that business is in the North Ward. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. But you're not - coincidentally it's in the North Ward.
You're not sure -

MR HARTE: Yes, I'm not sure. Yes, I think - yes, I -
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MS McDONALD: You're not sure that there's an actual requirement?
MR HARTE: Yes, I'm not sure.

MS McDONALD: Now, [ want to ask you some evidence - ask you some questions
about this advice being given to Mr Breton in an election campaign -

MR HARTE: Sure.

MS McDONALD: - as you disclosed in your conflict of interest form. Mr Breton
has given evidence before the inquiry?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: Have you read that evidence?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Were you listening when it was being given live or was it a
matter of reading it subsequently?

MR HARTE: I think I got some parts of it live. I think it was across a couple of
days, wasn't it? I don't remember exactly when I saw it or read it, but I did read the
evidence.

MS McDONALD: All right. After Mr Breton gave that evidence - and as you said,
there were questions at least on two days - have you had a discussion with Mr Breton
about his evidence?

MR HARTE: The only thing that I've - that I've shown Mr Breton is the disclosure,
the ones that - the publicly available disclosures.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, I didn't hear that.

MR HARTE: Sorry. The publicly available disclosures, I showed him.

MS McDONALD: So, if you showed Mr Breton the publicly available disclosures,
that would suggest that there's been some kind of communication between you and

Mr Breton about the issues raised when he was giving evidence?

MR HARTE: It was more of - as a - like, a refresher of - this is - so in terms - like,
I've passed on the disclosure. That was the extent of it, really.

MS McDONALD: But did you do that of your own volition or were you contacted
by Mr Breton?

MR HARTE: I'm not sure, to be honest. I don't remember.
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MS McDONALD: All right. He only gave evidence a relatively short period ago.
Surely you would remember if he sent you an email or whether he telephoned you or
whether he had a discussion with you, for example, before a council meeting about
anything to do with your involvement with his election campaign?

MR HARTE: I'm not - I'm not - I don't remember. It might have been me, just - like,
as a - as a refresher for him, but I - I would have to check, to be honest. I'd have to
check my phone.

MS McDONALD: What do you mean by "it may only be me as a refresher"?

MR HARTE: As in - like a - I sent that disclosure as, like, a refresher.

MS McDONALD: What do you mean by "as a refresher"?

MR HARTE: The - if he was to be asked again about things relating to those
disclosures, that it's - I gave him the publicly available document.

MS McDONALD: All right. And when you say "the publicly available documents",
did you go into the Australian - sorry, New South Wales Electoral Commission
website?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you did a search on that website?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you found some documents which you have described as
"the publicly available disclosure documents"?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And at least you forwarded those to Mr Breton?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You're uncertain about whether you just did that or whether there
was some communication from Mr Breton which prompted you to do that?

MR HARTE: Yes. I - I can't say for sure, but I feel like it might have been me that
just passed it on.

MS McDONALD: How did you pass them on? Did you email him? Did you provide
him with a paper copy?
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MR HARTE: I think it might have been a message. I'm not sure. I think it - yes.
Yes, it would have been a message.

MS McDONALD: Well, when you say "it would have been a message", are you
talking about an email?

MR HARTE: No, like a - a message on WhatsApp or an SMS or something like
that.

MS McDONALD: All right. So either a text message or a WhatsApp message?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Are you part of a WhatsApp group with - that Mr Breton's a
member of?

MR HARTE: No.
MS McDONALD: So how - I'm not great on this, but how do you communicate -

MR HARTE: You can directly communicate with someone - one-on-one, like,
message.

MS McDONALD: Right. So it's the equivalent of a text message?

MR HARTE: Yes. Sorry. Yes, that's - yes.

MS McDONALD: All right.

MR HARTE: Yes. Sorry for confusing you.

MS McDONALD: But you have no recollection - and in doing that, did you
somehow annex the documents? Or how did you provide these publicly available

disclosure documents to him?

MR HARTE: I think I might have just screenshotted it. Yes, it would have been a
screenshot.

MS McDONALD: Have you had any discussion with Mr Breton about this topic of
his candidacy in the 2021 election and the advice that you have provided to him?

MR HARTE: Since his evidence? No. My communications with Mr Breton have
been, you know, just merely checking in on him because everyone's going through a
tough time at the moment with this inquiry. And that's been the extent of my
discussions with him.

MS McDONALD: And how have you had those discussions with him? In person?
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MR HARTE: Yes. [ saw him last week. We had a discussion, just to see how he's
going, basically.

MS McDONALD: Did anybody - and when I say "contact you" I'm talking about
personally or through email, text message, whatever - did anybody contact you on
behalf of Mr Breton to ask you about the topic of the advice that you gave to him in
that campaign?

MR HARTE: Not that I can recall, no.

MS McDONALD: We heard evidence yesterday that there's been some, I think,
notices of motion that were proposed in the September then the October - maybe a
request for an extraordinary meeting -

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - concerning Mr Breton's employment with the council.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: In the - and again, the evidence we heard yesterday was that
there was some advice provided, and at the moment those two motions haven't
proceeded because of a finding by the chair that they're illegal.

MR HARTE: The two motions?

MS McDONALD: Yes. There was an original motion -

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: - in September.

MR HARTE: Yes. So that motion was - sorry. So the first motion that councillors
received legal advice on, that was the extraordinary meeting where a majority of
councillors declared a significant conflict of interest, and that matter was not heard
because the - the meeting was - the meeting was cancelled, essentially, because -
MS McDONALD: Well, the mayor cancelled the meeting.

MR HARTE: - it became clear that quorum wouldn't be present for that matter.

MS McDONALD: All right. And then there was an attempt in October to hear a
similar motion?

MR HARTE: Correct.
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MS McDONALD: And at that meeting the mayor declared that the motion was
illegal?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And the motion did not proceed.

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: Now, both motions - our understanding is - concerned

Mr Breton's employment arising from some of the revelations from the evidence in
this inquiry.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: In the lead-up to receiving those proposed notices of motion
leading up to the meetings, did you have any discussion with Mr Breton about those

notices of motion?

MR HARTE: I think on the first motion, for the first meeting that was called, I
didn't have any discussion because I was overseas.

MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR HARTE: And I don't remember when I got back, but I was overseas for the vast
majority of the time between the motion being submitted by the councillors that
submitted it and the extraordinary meeting.

MS McDONALD: Did you attend the extraordinary meeting?

MR HARTE: I did. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Right. So you were back from overseas for it?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But you didn't have any discussion - sorry. Did you have any
discussion leading up to walking into that - for that meeting, with Mr Breton?

MR HARTE: Not that I - not that I can recall. And I think the second time I might
have made a remark to him saying this (indistinct).

MS McDONALD: And where did you make that comment to him?

MR HARTE: I don't remember. I've - I - [ would have said something to that effect.
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MS McDONALD: Right. So you said this to him in person? It's not an email, it's not
a text message or -

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: Your recollection is you -

MR HARTE: Yes, it would have -

MS McDONALD: - said this -

MR HARTE: Probably would have been in person. Yes.

MS McDONALD: - to him in person?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And when?

MR HARTE: Would have been before that meeting.

MS McDONALD: On the day of that meeting?

MR HARTE: I don't remember, to be honest. I -

MS McDONALD: Okay. And in respect of those two motions and what - had
anybody on behalf of Mr Breton contacted you about what he raised or what he said
in his evidence in the inquiry?

MR HARTE: Sorry, can you - as in, the -

MS McDONALD: I've been -

MR HARTE: - evidence in the inquiry? Yes.

MS McDONALD: Sorry. His evidence at the inquiry about the advice you gave him
about the - his campaign, right?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: That's the topic.
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: I have asked you whether you've had any discussions with
Mr Breton personally about that topic.
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MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you've given your evidence about that. I'm now asking you,
in the lead-up to the motion in September and then the motion in October, did
anybody approach you on behalf of Mr Breton to discuss that topic?

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: Now, when did you first meet Mr Breton?

MR HARTE: Mid-2021.

MS McDONALD: And when you say "mid", can you be - give an indication of
which month?

MR HARTE: Maybe May or June, something along those lines.

MS McDONALD: Where did you -

MR HARTE: It was before the second lockdown. That's why I remember. So my
timestamps during that period of - is based off lockdowns, which I'm sure many
people are -

COMMISSIONER: You and a lot of us, Councillor.

MS McDONALD: So your recollection is that it was before the second lockdown?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Where did you meet him?

MR HARTE: Would have been at the campaign office.

MS McDONALD: Right. Could I just - in your answer you said "would have been".
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Do you have a recollection that that was where you met him?

MR HARTE: No, but I can't - I get your point. I couldn't think of anywhere else
where I would have met him, so -

MS McDONALD: All right. And this was at the campaign office for the Liberal
candidates for the council election?

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: And you obviously were doing some work there on that day?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Mr Breton attended the office?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did you know he was coming?

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: He just arrived?

MR HARTE: Yes. Well - yes, I wasn't aware that he was going to come to the
office. No, I didn't know who he was.

MS McDONALD: All right. When he came, was he accompanied by anybody?
MR HARTE: Not that I can recall.

MS McDONALD: So you're at the office and he just walks in?

MR HARTE: Yes. Would be, yes.

MS McDONALD: And what did he want? What did he raise with you?

MR HARTE: I think he - no, he was having a meeting with Mr Mannoun.

MS McDONALD: At the campaign office?

MR HARTE: Yes. So, like, it was during a time where there was, like - I think
Mr Mannoun was still working - like, he was still a private citizen at the time. He

wasn't a candidate, technically, because it's still a few months before the election, but

obviously doing the groundwork - you know, stuff related to the campaign, slowly
building up the -

MS McDONALD: Hold on.
MR HARTE: Like, laying the groundwork for the campaign, so -

MS McDONALD: Okay. So that's along - your recollection is at that time
candidates - the - sorry, the ability to actually nominate to be a candidate hadn't
opened?

MR HARTE: No, it was opened. I think related to - that the candidates were
awaiting endorsement from the Liberal Party to proceed. Yes.
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MS McDONALD: So the various candidates had been identified and there needed to
be some kind of endorsement, what, from -

MR HARTE: Preselection - no, the preselection process within the Liberal Party.
Yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. So had that been completed?

MR HARTE: No. If - I believe that process was finished in August. So no one was
endorsed or - as a candidate yet.

MS McDONALD: Right. But there were certain people who'd either nominated or
were seeking preselection?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And one of those was Mr Mannoun?
MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: All right. At this office did you have different rooms or was it
just, like, kind of one big work space?

MR HARTE: There was like a - one big open area and there was a couple of rooms.

MS McDONALD: All right. So your recollection is Mr Breton arrives to have a
meeting with Mr Mannoun?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And at that point, did you have any discussion with him? Or was
it a matter of, "I'm here to see Ned," and you either - sorry.

MR HARTE: No, I can't recall the specifics, but I would have met him there - like,
shake his hands, say, "G'day, I'm Matthew," you know. I don't recall the extent of the
conversation, but I did meet him there - for the first time there.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry?

MR HARTE: So the - meet him for the first time there.

MS McDONALD: So at that first meeting your dealings with Mr Breton would be
something along the lines of just introducing yourself. He gave an indication that he

was here to see Mr Mannoun?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.
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MS McDONALD: And then it was part of your role to find wherever Mr Mannoun
was and -

MR HARTE: No, I don't - no, sorry. The order was a bit mixed up there. He was
meeting with the mayor. I don't know how he found the mayor or - you know, it's a
pretty small office. Like, it's not really - you don't have to go find someone, per se.

MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR HARTE: And at that point during that meeting probably popped out or - you
know, the - Mr Mannoun might have said to me, "Matt, coming out. [ want to
introduce you to someone," or - it wasn't me meeting Mr Breton and then going to go
find Mr Mannoun for his meeting. [ wasn't - yes, I was probably in the back - out in
one of the back rooms on my laptop.

MS McDONALD: All right. And, sorry - so is your recollection some time during
that meeting Ned Mannoun says to you, "Come and meet somebody"?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And that's when you were introduced to Mr Breton?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And what did Mr Mannoun say to you about why Mr Breton was
there?

MR HARTE: I don't - I don't recall, no.

MS McDONALD: All right. It's a campaign office. Was there a suggestion that
Mr Breton might be able to do some work or give some assistance to the campaign?

MR HARTE: Yes. So that's what arised out of that meeting, I presume, where he'd
come and assist for a bit. Because I think Mr Breton was between jobs at the time.
But I wasn't there for their conversation.

MS McDONALD: All right. So Mr Mannoun and Mr Breton have - Breton, I'm
sorry - have some kind of conversation, and then at least at this meeting you're
introduced to Mr Breton - Breton, I'm sorry, by -

COMMISSIONER: I'm going to have to keep (indistinct).

MS McDONALD: It's hot.

COMMISSIONER: Yes, it is.
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MS McDONALD: Sorry. You were introduced to him by the mayor - sorry, by
Mr Mannoun at that - that's his official title at that point.

MR HARTE: At the time, yes.

MS McDONALD: And what you can say - as you said, what arose out of that
meeting was that Mr Breton then would attend the office to assist?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And after that meeting, were you at the campaign office when
Mr Breton did arrive to provide some assistance?

MR HARTE: Yes. I - I don't know if it was the same day, but I do remember there
was one day I rocked up and there were these big, like - like, brown paper that was
just put up on the wall and was basically - you know, running a campaign is like
project management. It's like - things needed to fall in line, we're getting them in
line, and that's his expertise from my understanding. And he basically put up on - on
the big walls, like, a timeline for campaign-related activities.

MS McDONALD: So either on that day or another day, when you were at the
office, you saw these brown - brown paper attached to the wall with what appeared
to be a timeline for an election campaign?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes. It was very sparse. It wasn't - there wasn't much on the wall
at that point in time. Like, we had to populate it with things that we had to do, and
it's where Mr Mannoun and myself were assisting him with that.

MS McDONALD: All right. So -

COMMISSIONER: Like certain milestones?

MR HARTE: Yes. Exactly.

COMMISSIONER: And then the rest was to be filled in as you went?

MR HARTE: Which - it was all null and void because the election was shifted back
anyway, so -

MS McDONALD: All right. But you have a recollection that the brown paper's on
the wall?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: At that point, were there just some, for example, rough dates put
up?
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MR HARTE: Yes. It would have been June, July, August, September, up until - I
think the election was supposed to be 4 September. Yes, like, a couple of Post-it
notes of things that - activities that need to be done.

MS McDONALD: And then your last answer was you and Mr Mannoun then
worked with Mr Breton - Breton to populate the brown piece of paper?

MR HARTE: Yes. So he - Jason didn't really have a background in politics, so it's
like - you know, a (indistinct) my campaigning 101, what do we do in elections.
Like, it was, you know -

MS McDONALD: No, no.

MR HARTE: That was more - like, that was where the mayor and - sorry,

Mr Mannoun and myself - where we were the ones that were basically populating
that -

MS McDONALD: Yes, that's what I'm asking.

MR HARTE: - brown paper. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And Mr Breton was there when you were populating it?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And roughly how many days did that occur?

MR HARTE: Couple of days.

MS McDONALD: Putting to one side the populating of the brown paper, was there
any other assistance or work done by Mr Breton at the campaign office?

MR HARTE: I think he might have assisted in drafting, like, a letter - like, a letter
to send to constituents type of thing. I'm talking about a mail-out.

MS McDONALD: Talking about a what?

MR HARTE: When I was talking about a mail-out - when you talk about campaign
activities - I don't - can't really recall much else.

MS McDONALD: And so that letter was going to be earmarked for a mail-out?

MR HARTE: I actually remember - I thought the letter was not that - you know, it
wasn't political enough in my eyes and, you know -

MS McDONALD: All right.
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MR HARTE: - we workshopped that.

MS McDONALD: Okay. So you had a go at a first draft or assisting in the drafting
of this proposed letter to constituents, and then it was subsequently workshopped?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did Mr Breton - was he involved in the workshop?

MR HARTE: I don't - actually, I was a bit scared to say to Mr Breton -

MS McDONALD: No, no, no.

MR HARTE: Like, I don't think he was there, and the reason why - that reason -
MS McDONALD: Okay. That's what I'm asking you.

MR HARTE: Okay.

MS McDONALD: Was he involved? You've earmarked - you've said that there was
a workshop. Was he involved in the workshop subsequently?

MR HARTE: Not that I can remember.

MS McDONALD: Any other involvement by Mr Breton in addition to the brown
paper -

MR HARTE: No, it -
MS McDONALD: - exercise, assisting in drafting a letter?

MR HARTE: Not - he was basically - he - Mr Breton assisted with - we had all the
ducks, we just needed to put them in a row.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, you had all the -
MR HARTE: Sorry. We had all the ducks, and he just helped us put them all in a
row. So the - he - there wasn't really any other assistance, really, that he provided

for - like, for that election campaign.

MS McDONALD: So to your knowledge - when you say "the ducks in a row", is
that relating back to the brown paper exercise?

MR HARTE: Yes, exactly. Yes.

COMMISSIONER: That's a planning function?
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MR HARTE: Sorry?

COMMISSIONER: That's Mr Breton gave some assistance with planning?

MR HARTE: Yes, like project management. Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Rather than the substance of what those activities were to be.
MR HARTE: No.

COMMISSIONER: Is that the distinction you're drawing?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes. That's a good way to put it.

MS McDONALD: Now, your evidence was that it was you and Mr Mannoun who
were populating the brown paper. What was Mr Breton adding of value at that stage?

MR HARTE: I don't remember, to be honest.

MS McDONALD: You just recall that he was present at that time?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: When you were introduced to Mr Breton, do you recall

the - Mr Mannoun saying anything along the lines of, "Look, I've met up with

Mr Breton beforehand. We had a coffee," or, "I was introduced to him via

X" - person X or anything like that?

MR HARTE: No, I don't. No.

MS McDONALD: You just recall that you were introduced at the campaign office?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. So we've got - your evidence is Mr Breton has done
that type of work. And when do you start providing advice to him in an election

campaign?

MR HARTE: That would have been after the decision - he - after he made the
decision to run as a candidate.

MS McDONALD: Right. What I'm asking you -
MR HARTE: Sorry, can I - can I - can I take that back? Sorry.

MS McDONALD: Yes.
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MR HARTE: It was -
MS McDONALD: Can I assist?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You've given evidence that there was this - you thought the
election was going to be in September.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then that was cancelled.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then it was going to be held in December.
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Can you recall whether this - the beginning of your providing
advice to him occurred before the September proposed election was cancelled or
afterwards?

MR HARTE: I don't remember. But from what I recall, the suggestion was put to
him by me to run as a candidate when he was between jobs, as - i.e., you know,
here's something to do, you know, between jobs. Like, "This might be interesting to
you." So I - that would have been - I'm not sure - I'm not quite sure about the
timelines, but it was put to him when he was between jobs.

MS McDONALD: All right. Can I just raise one thing - and I'm not being critical,
and often witnesses do this - you answer with "it would have been".

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And sometimes that's just a turn of phrase. Other times the use of
"would have been" is because "I actually can't remember but I think or it should have
been around that time." You see the difference in the use of it?

MR HARTE: Yes. No, I understand. I'll try and refrain from doing so. But in that
case, I can't recall the exact date. Obviously the advice would have been provided
after it was put to him that he should run as a candidate.

MS McDONALD: We'll get to that in a minute. You said that it was - there was
going to be a September election. When was it cancelled?

MR HARTE: I don't know.
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MS McDONALD: When it was cancelled, had you - had the preselection procedure
that you were referring to for your Liberal candidates - had that all been completed?

MR HARTE: I don't remember.

MS McDONALD: So this suggestion that you made to Mr Breton that he stand for
election, that suggestion was made by you at the campaign office?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: That would suggest that Mr Breton was in attendance at the
campaign office doing some work. Or did you contact him and ask him to come in?

MR HARTE: I don't remember. I don't know - I don't remember the circumstances
around - surrounding that discussion. I know the discussion happened, but I don't
remember the discussion and the setting.

MS McDONALD: All right. So you had a discussion with him where you suggested
to him that he stand as a candidate?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Was that the extent of the conversation at that time or did you
say anything else to him about standing as a candidate?

MR HARTE: I don't remember the specifics of that conversation.
COMMISSIONER: Was there more than one?
MR HARTE: It's four years ago. I don't really -

COMMISSIONER: You can rest assured I well understand the difficulties with the
passage of time. But doing the best you can, was it an ongoing discussion? Was it a,
"Why don't you do this?" "Yes, okay." Was it a, "Have a think about it, let's chat
more"?

MR HARTE: I honestly don't remember.
COMMISSIONER: All right.

MS McDONALD: So when you said to him, you know, "Why don't you stand as a
candidate," did he react with, "I wouldn't want to do that," or, "Maybe," or,
"Definitely yes," or as the Commissioner has suggested, "Oh, let me have a think"?

MR HARTE: Well, I do remember that I framed it in a way - it's like, you know,
"You're between jobs. You" - this might be, as I said, something that he might be
interested in doing. I can't recall any other specifics.
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MS McDONALD: Who told you - how did you - sorry. You've said that Mr Breton
was in between jobs. What do you base that on?

MR HARTE: He would have told me.
MS McDONALD: Can you -

MR HARTE: Sorry, he - so he was at the campaign office and - I know you'll - I'm
going to say it again, but, you know - I'm sure the question would have coming

up - it's like why - you know, "What are you doing" - as in, in between jobs right
now. It was like, "You have this time to assist."

MS McDONALD: That suggests that he was at the campaign office quite often?
MR HARTE: For a short period of time, yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. You've given evidence of you raising it with him in
this initial conversation. You suggest, "Why don't you run for office?" After that
conversation there must have been other conversations with Mr Breton about
standing for - as a candidate?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: The next conversation, did that take place at the campaign
office?

MR HARTE: I don't recall the specific - every single interaction I've had with
Mr Breton. I don't - I don't remember, I'm sorry.

COMMISSIONER: Take me through an overall - we'll start high level and then
counsel assisting can take it up with you. But you have this conversation where you
proposed to Mr Breton that he might give consideration to running as a candidate.
Doing the best you can - and accepting that it's a number of years later - step me
through what happened then. He must have accepted or agreed at some point. And
then what was your involvement with his campaign, moving forward?

MR HARTE: Well, he - at what point he accepted I don't remember, but after he did
it's like - look, this is - the next conversation would have been this is what you need
to do, this is - like, there's paperwork that needs to be filled out, requirements to be a
candidate. You know, filling your ticket. You know - and this is how - this is how
you should campaign. Like, these are the things you should be doing if you want to
try and be a successful candidate and get elected to council. But the - I can't really
recall the timeline because during lockdown - and we're coming out of lockdown, so
it was a very busy time.

COMMISSIONER: Don't worry too much about the days or weeks in between -
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MR HARTE: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: - but - so you have this conversation. Did Mr Breton come
back at some point and go, "You know what, I'm going to do it. Yes, let's do it"?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes. Yes.
COMMISSIONER: And then what was your next involvement in that process?

MR HARTE: The next involvement would be to register as a candidate with the
New South Wales Electoral Commission.

COMMISSIONER: And did you help Mr Breton with that side of things?
MR HARTE: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: All right. And then you mentioned earlier things like filling a
ticket?

MR HARTE: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Did you help Mr Breton with that?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And what else?

MR HARTE: So there's registering as a candidate, filling the ticket and then
nominating the - nominating the ticket. So there's - the registration's separate to
nomination. Registration of a candidate is basically - you're allowed to start raising
money and you're allowed to start political campaigning, essentially. And then the
nomination period is a set period - like, it's a couple-week period before the election.
COMMISSIONER: (Indistinct) the ballot?

MR HARTE: Sorry? To get your ballot paper -

COMMISSIONER: (Indistinct) quite topical for the last election, perhaps?

MR HARTE: Yes. That's right. So -

COMMISSIONER: Yes. So you helped Mr Breton with that too?

MR HARTE: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: And after that had happened, what was the next -
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MR HARTE: You know, getting the candidate out there to try and, you know, speak
to as many voters as possible.

COMMISSIONER: Did you help Mr Breton with that?

MR HARTE: Not physically, like, out there.

COMMISSIONER: Did you give him some advice about what he might do?

MR HARTE: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Anything else?

MR HARTE: We - would have been as well - this is a mail - like, this is something
that you should send out - like, material. Of - what's it called - the how to vote card.
Like - stuff like that.

COMMISSIONER: Corflutes?

MR HARTE: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: What about donations?

MR HARTE: I wasn't the -

COMMISSIONER: (Indistinct).

MR HARTE: Only involved when I had - sorry?

COMMISSIONER: Raising funds?

MR HARTE: No. I wish I knew people that would donate to me as a - as a
councillor, but, no, I wasn't involved in the donations besides the post-election
obligations.

COMMISSIONER: That is the reporting obligations, you mean?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: You said in the answer that you've just given that the first step in
the process is to register as a candidate.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you helped him with that?
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MR HARTE: Yes, the paperwork.

MS McDONALD: Mr Breton didn't live within the jurisdiction of Liverpool City
Council?

MR HARTE: Yes. Sorry. So it would have been -
MS McDONALD: No, no, no, no. Let me ask my question.
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Do you recall that Mr Breton didn't live within the Liverpool
City Council jurisdiction?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.
MS McDONALD: So prima facie it would appear that he's not eligible to stand?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Unless, unlike you, there is some way that he can get on the
non-registered - residential enrolled roll; correct?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did you discuss that with him?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did you suggest to him a way that he could get on that roll?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What did you say to him?

MR HARTE: You'd have to - if you want to nominate - sorry. "If you want to
register as a candidate and subsequently nominate as a candidate, if you don't live in
the Local Government Area you'd have to get onto the non-residential roll."

MS McDONALD: Did you assist him in doing that?

MR HARTE: I don't recall. I don't - I - I can't say definitely yes or definitely no. I
don't remember.

MS McDONALD: You gave evidence toward - earlier today that you relied on a
particular business -

LCC Inquiry - 22.10.2025 P-2426 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: - who operates within the local council area.
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did you introduce Mr Breton to anybody - for example, a
company called M Rado Holding Proprietary Limited?

MR HARTE: Not that I know.

MS McDONALD: Do you know Muhaf Raad, R-a-a-d? Do you know that
gentleman?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: How do you know him?

MR HARTE: He might be a member of the Liberal Party.

MS McDONALD: Within Liverpool?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You said "might be".

MR HARTE: Yes. I've met him before through -

MS McDONALD: Through Liberal Party (indistinct) or something like that?
MR HARTE: It was with Mr Mannoun. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Do you remember when you met him with Mr Mannoun? Was it
before the December 2021 election?

MR HARTE: I would have known of him, because he helped on election day, from
my understanding.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry, I missed that.

MR HARTE: Sorry. I would have known of Mr Raad before the election. But
whether I met him, I don't - I don't remember.

MS McDONALD: Okay. How did you know of him, at least before the December
election?
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MR HARTE: One of the campaign activities is making sure there's people at polling
booths on election day, and I would have - I - I would - I would have seen the name,
Mr - or Moofaq Raad, yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. So your recollection is that he was handing out how-to
votes on election day?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: For the Liberal candidates?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. Do you know - sorry - a George Adouni, A-d-o-u-n-i?
MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: Did you have any contact with Mr Raad about assisting
Mr Breton to get on the non-residential roll?

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: To your knowledge, did, for example, Mr Mannoun have any
contact or discussion with Mr Raad about assisting Mr Breton to get onto the
non-residential roll?

MR HARTE: To my knowledge, no.

MS McDONALD: Excuse me for a minute. Your recollection is that, in helping
Mr Breton become registered as a candidate, you raised with him this - that, "Okay,
you don't live in the area, don't worry, get yourself on the non-residential roll"?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did you give him, as an example, the way that you got onto the
non-residential roll?

COMMISSIONER: That might be (indistinct).

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry.

COMMISSIONER: That might not be -

MS McDONALD: No, sorry. I withdraw that question.

COMMISSIONER: There might be a premise there that needs to be -
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MS McDONALD: Yes. No, no.

COMMISSIONER: Just in fairness.

MS McDONALD: No, I -

COMMISSIONER: You might be right, but -

MS McDONALD: No, no, no. No, I'm not. I withdraw the question.
COMMISSIONER: All right.

MS McDONALD: Did you provide him with any other advice or details how one
would go about getting on the non-residential roll?

MR HARTE: It's a form - it's a form that's online.

MS McDONALD: No, I'm getting at - it's not just a matter of filling out a form.
You've got to have some kind of link with either a business -

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: - or something within the municipality.

MR HARTE: Understand. Yes. I don't - I don't remember. Sorry, do you need me to
speak louder?

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry?

MR HARTE: Do you need me to speak louder?

MS McDONALD: Yes, I'm sorry.

COMMISSIONER: Just a touch.

MR HARTE: Yes. Sorry.

COMMISSIONER: From that, though, Councillor, do I understand that you
don't - sitting here today, you don't have a recollection one way or the other about
whether you did help Mr Breton with that or didn't, but it's possible that you did in
the context of the other things that you were helping him -

MR HARTE: Yes. No, I accept that. Yes.

MS McDONALD: In answer to the Commissioner's questions, you then thought that
the next way you assisted him was finding a ticket or nominating a ticket?
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MR HARTE: Yes. So registering the candidate -
MS McDONALD: So we've got him as a candidate, standalone.
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then the next step - I thought you said that you helped him,
in a sense -

MR HARTE: Fill the ticket.

MS McDONALD: Putting together - thank you - a ticket.
MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: How did you - what did you do?

MR HARTE: So just to give you - can I provide a bit of context with this, if I may?
Running - running as a candidate in a council election where there's proportional
representation - so the big ballot paper - like, the Senate, Legislative Council and/or
Local Government councils - it's - it's beneficial to run what's called above the line.
As in - you have the box at the top. It's very simple for voters to fill in the boxes. If
you run below the line you have to fill in X amount of boxes. It gets quite
complicated, so you want to make it as easy as possible for voters. And the way you
do that is by filling the tickets, having the maximum number of candidates you're
allowed for that election. Since there was five candidate - five positions in a ward,
you have five candidates on the ballot paper, and that creates the ticket. And

then that - that fills the ticket, sorry, and that gives - that entitles you to have the box
above the line.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: So it's just politically beneficial to - makes life a lot easier when
you're trying to tell a voter how to vote.

MS McDONALD: It's also beneficial because that box above the line - and then on
their how to vote tickets indicate that the first - their preferences should go to another
box above the line.

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: So, for example, here - and we'll come to this - the above the box
for Mr Breton and his ticket - the preferences there - the first preferences went

directly to the Liberal Party?

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: And so that's an advantage to the Liberal Party?
MR HARTE: I disagree.
MS McDONALD: (Indistinct).

MR HARTE: No, I disagree with that, because the primary objective of any
candidate is to get elected. There's a secondary component of preferences.

MS McDONALD: I'm talking about the advantage to the Liberal Party, and the
advantage to the Liberal Party was that the ticket for Mr Breton's above the line box
was that his - he directed his preferences to the Liberal Party.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And that's an advantage to the Liberal Party.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: If it was a matter of the candidate was just focusing on the
candidate being elected, the candidate doesn't have to indicate preferences. It can just
say, "Up to the elector" - "the electorate. Tick me" - "Tick my ticket number 1 and
you put your own preferences in." That's one way of doing it?

MR HARTE: Yes. Some candidates can do it that way, yes.

MS McDONALD: Yes. Now, can I just confirm - your evidence was that to get
above the line, as there were five positions in that ward, you needed five candidates
on the ticket?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: So we've got Mr Breton as number 1?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Then we had your parents?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You organised that?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And - excuse me for a minute. And you've made a distinction

between the nomination as a candidate, then the nomination - is it known as a group
of candidates?

LCC Inquiry - 22.10.2025 P-2431 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR HARTE: Yes. There were two forms, I believe: one is the nomination as an
individual candidate, and one is to create the group and get the - above the line.

MS McDONALD: To get above the line?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. If I can go to who was actually on the how to vote card
in addition to your folks - your parents, I'm sorry.

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry. On the how to vote there is a Lorenzo Luciano?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Do you know him?

MR HARTE: At the time, yes, I did know him.

MS McDONALD: At the time of putting together this -

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - group of candidates?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: How did you know him?

MR HARTE: I met him through Mr Mannoun.

MS McDONALD: Was he involved in the Liberal Party?

MR HARTE: No, not from my understanding.

MS McDONALD: So how did you meet him through Mr Mannoun?

MR HARTE: I think he - he ran a local restaurant.

MS McDONALD: All right. And was it when you were at the restaurant?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then there's a Toni Cancellara? Sorry, Cancellara.
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MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Do you know - I take it it's a her?

MR HARTE: No, it's a gentleman. It's just different - he spells his -
COMMISSIONER: T-0-n-i?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: T-0-n-i1? Anyway -

COMMISSIONER: Anyway -

MS McDONALD: Sorry. I don't want to make any disrespect, but it's a gentleman?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did you know him at the time?

MR HARTE: I don't remember. No, I don't remember if I knew him at the time.
MS McDONALD: How did he become part of the group candidature?

MR HARTE: Mr Mannoun would have assisted with that.

MS McDONALD: Sorry? Mr Mannoun -

MR HARTE: Would have assisted with getting Toni to run as a candidate.

MS McDONALD: So to your knowledge, Mr Mannoun knew Toni?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Was Toni involved in the Liberal Party?

MR HARTE: Not from my understanding.

MS McDONALD: Your last comment that Mr Mannoun would have assisted in
getting Toni onto the ticket - you had discussions with Mr Mannoun about this
proposal that Mr Breton has a group of candidates that enabled them to go above the
line?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And that discussion with Mr Mannoun, did you say, "Look, I've
got" - "My parents have put their hands up"?
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MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: "Can you assist in getting some other names?"
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you - Mr Mannoun nominated at least - sorry, Toni, if I can
just - and possibly - I'm sorry, I've forgotten the other gentleman's name. Mr -

MR HARTE: Luciano. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Yes. All right. And is it your understanding that to be included in
the ticket - so it's Group D above the line - you also have to be included in the group
candidate nomination form?

MR HARTE: I think so. I don't remember the -

MS McDONALD: I'm jumping round a little bit. The candidates form that I think
you've said was step number 1 that Mr Breton would have had to have completed,
did you assist him in completing that form?

MR HARTE: The registration as a candidate?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And the circumstances in which you helped him complete that
form, was that done at the campaign office?

MR HARTE: Look, I can't recall whether it was there or whether we caught up at a
local coffee shop, but - yes, I'm not sure where - what setting it was.

MS McDONALD: The procedure with this registration form, can you recall - is it
something that you - you go onto the Electoral Commission website, you put in some
details and it kind of generates a form partially completed?

MR HARTE: Yes, I think so. I think there were two options.

MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: You could do it where it populates the information and then you print
it out and sign it and then scan it back in, or you could just fill it out manually.

MS McDONALD: Just fill the whole -
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MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: Print out the proforma and just fill it out in handwriting?
MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: All right. Excuse me for a minute. Your parents, they live at
Peakhurst Heights?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: How were they - how did they become eligible to stand for
election in Liverpool City Council?

MR HARTE: Would have been the non-residential roll.

MS McDONALD: Right. And did you organise something similar that you did

last year, in that you identified a business and that business nominated, for example,
your mum as having the vote for the business? Is that how it was done?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. So - and you facilitated all that?

MR HARTE: Yes. My mum and dad, yes.

MS McDONALD: Sorry.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So for example, for your mum you identified a particular
business which might be - you've had some dealings with a pro-Liberal or a - willing
to participate in this way?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And that business nominated your mum?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then because your mum's now got the vote, she did go on
the non-residential roll?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And with your dad you did something similar?
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MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Probably a different -

MR HARTE: It would have to be -

MS McDONALD: Yes. Sorry. (Indistinct).

MR HARTE: Yes, it would have to be different people. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Yes, of course.

MR HARTE: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: Well, it depends how many properties (indistinct).

MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR HARTE: Yes. Sorry. Yes, that's true.

MS McDONALD: Okay.

COMMISSIONER: One vote per rateable property.

MS McDONALD: So it's the - I'm sorry. I should be -

COMMISSIONER: Yes.

MS McDONALD: It's the business - runs a business which involves -
COMMISSIONER: Occupying rateable property. If the business owns, as |
understand the section - anyone should feel free to correct me if I've misunderstood
it, but if the business owns more than one - owns or occupies more than one rateable
property within the ward, and if - there are wards that has to be the ward - then the
business can nominate a different person to - as the elector for that property.

MS McDONALD: Could I just pause for a minute. I noticed -
COMMISSIONER: Yes. Mr Emmett, were you about to correct me?

MS McDONALD: I don't know if he wanted to say something.

MR EMMETT: I wasn't sure if you were inviting corrections and I don't -

COMMISSIONER: [ - absolutely I am.
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MR EMMETT: - want to (indistinct) correct. I just want to draw attention to
sections 270 and 271, which place limits on that.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Thank you.
MR EMMETT: So it's not as simple as one vote for (indistinct) each entity. At most
we'll have one, on our reading. But there may be - there may be more. We don't

know if you'll be called upon to consider this, but those provisions are not without
complexity.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. I think you're right, Mr Emmett. 271(4)(a) is the
limitation to which you refer, which - whilst looking at it during the evidence, I think
I might have misread. So the effect of that seems to be that if there is more than one
rateable property, the business can only nominate an elector in relation to one, not
one each. Is that your point?

MR EMMETT: It's that - yes. Yes, Commissioner.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. Thank you. Yes, I think that's right.

MS McDONALD: Mr Harte, we haven't brought up those sections of the Local
Government Act, but if I can say they're a wee bit complex. When you wanted to
stand for election as a councillor last year, did you receive any advice about how you
could do it and what you had to - how to satisfy the requirements?

MR HARTE: Advice from anyone in particular or -

MS McDONALD: From -

MR HARTE: - just in general?

MS McDONALD: Any advice from somebody in the Liberal Party that - "This is
how you do it," or -

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: Somebody already - like, another Liberal councillor on council?
MR HARTE: No. No, I didn't receive any advice that I recall.

MS McDONALD: All right. What about with mum and dad?

MR HARTE: Receiving advice from my mum and -

MS McDONALD: Sorry. When you were arranging for your mum and dad to go
through a similar process so they could be - stand for election -
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MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - did you seek advice or guidance on, "Look, how do we actually
do this?"

MR HARTE: I don't - I don't remember. That being said, once the form's submitted,
the council officer that - from Liverpool City Council assesses the application and
they, I would assume, check the requirements under the Act.

MS McDONALD: To get on the actual non-residential roll, is - with you, was it a
procedure where you make an application and get on that roll in the lead-up to then
becoming a - nominating as a candidate?

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. And if I wanted to look at that roll, is it your
understanding that that roll is actually maintained by Liverpool City Council?

MR HARTE: I'm not sure who maintains it.

MS McDONALD: All right. Now, in the answer to the question by the
Commissioner you also provided some advice about how to get out there, start
talking to the electorate, advice on what he might do?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Then my note was you also provided some advice about sending
out material.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: That's dealing with the mail-out that you identified, I think,
earlier in the day.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And is that - was that advice along the lines of, you know, you
draft a letter or you draft a pamphlet and you stick it in an envelope and get it
distributed?

MR HARTE: Like, we - yes, like, assist with, like, the design - the how to vote, for
example. It's like - you know, you get a graphic to - you need some graphic design,
use Canva, like - you know, this is how - how - I don't remember if I did it or
assisted or whether it was someone else, or whether it was him, but stuff along those
lines.

MS McDONALD: All right. Is your understanding Mr Breton did have a mail-out?
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MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did you assist in envelopes or printing or anything like that for
him?

MR HARTE: I - I don't remember whether it was telling him, "You should print
with this supplier because we know that they're liable," or whether I helped him with
the order, but yes, I would have assisted with printing.

MS McDONALD: Of the actual pamphlet or letter?

MR HARTE: Like putting in the order. I didn't personally print it or fold it or
envelope, but with the submitting the order to do it.

MS McDONALD: Whoever the printer was?
MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And it was the printer that the Liberal Party also used?

MR HARTE: Yes, I think a couple of parties might have used them. They're a big
printer in - they're a big printer in the Liverpool LGA.

MS McDONALD: But the stuffing of the envelopes, to your knowledge, was that
done manually by Mr Breton?

MR HARTE: I don't remember.
MS McDONALD: Or you don't know?
MR HARTE: I don't remember.

MS McDONALD: Okay. You also spoke about assisting in devising the how to vote
card.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And just following on from the answer you just gave, was that a
matter of, kind of; this is how you format it and you have a photo up there, and
things like that?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did you actually assist in the - because I take it - do you draft it
on a computer?
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MR HARTE: Yes. Or might have been a scribble on a piece of paper - this is how it
should look.

MS McDONALD: Okay. So you provided that advice to him?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: At that time when he was devising the how to vote card, you had
a discussion with him about, "Well, who are you going to give your first preference
to"?

MR HARTE: Sorry, Jason's preferences? I don't remember if the conversation was
had during that time when, yes, we were figuring out how to design a how to vote,
but that - that discussion did happen.

MS McDONALD: Okay. It did happen?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You had the conversation with him?

MR HARTE: I don't want to say definitively yes, but I think so - it was a
conversation that I had with him.

MS McDONALD: You're a little bit hesitant. Is that because there might have been
somebody else -

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - present at this conversation about, "Well, who's your first
preferences going to go to"?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And who was that?

MR HARTE: Probably Mr Mannoun. But that's - that's not uncommon -
COMMISSIONER: Sorry, when you say -

MR HARTE: Sorry.

COMMISSIONER: Sorry, I didn't mean to cut you off. When you say "probably",
do you actually have a recollection one way or the other today about this

conversation, or are you looking back - this isn't -

MR HARTE: I don't remember -
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COMMISSIONER: - a criticism -
MR HARTE: - whether I had the conversation - sorry.

COMMISSIONER: Just let me finish and then you can answer. In answering
counsel assisting, is it that you recall having a - or being a part of a conversation,
present when there was a conversation about that topic, and that you, Councillor
Mannoun and Mr Breton were present? Or is it you looking back, in effect,
reconstructing - thinking that that's probably what happened or was likely to have
happened at the time?

MR HARTE: It's probably - it's probably the latter, but I - I just don't recall whether
that conversation was had with me directly with Mr Breton or whether I was advised
of a conversation that was had to that effect about discussing preferences.
COMMISSIONER: So you have a recollection of knowing the outcome -

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

COMMISSIONER: - of whatever the conversation was, but you don't remember
whether you had the conversation, were present when it was had or you were told
about it later?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And just going through that list of matters that you answered the
Commissioner with, corflutes were mentioned?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You've provided advice to Mr Breton about what the corflutes
should look like or -

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And where you get them produced?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Anything else about corflutes?

MR HARTE: It would have been similar to the how to vote. Like, "This is what it
should look like." But I - no, I don't really remember anything else relating to
corflutes. And, like, you know, "Here's the printer." Like, "You should use this

printer." But, yes, I don't recall the specifics - like, on anything that we might have
discussed.
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MS McDONALD: So is there a specialty printing company that prepare or produces
the -

MR HARTE: It's the same printer of the flyers.

MS McDONALD: With the how to vote?

MR HARTE: Yes. They - they do everything.

MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now, you were asked about raising funds, and my note was that
you didn't have a discussion - your recollection is you didn't discuss raising funds
with Mr Breton. Is that the case?

MR HARTE: No, not before he started fundraising.

MS McDONALD: Right. So no suggestion about how you go about it?

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: So just no discussion about funds?

MR HARTE: Besides the fact that you need to get funds to run a campaign.
Whether - you can self-fund or you can raise donations. But, no, I didn't really

discuss donations with him.

MS McDONALD: And then you said you - and we'll get to this eventually - you
also provided some advice after the election -

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - about the requirements of the Electoral Commission to, sorry,
lodge reporting?

MR HARTE: Yes. More of - assistance more so than advice. It's the -

MS McDONALD: Okay. And when you say "assistance", what do you mean?

MR HARTE: The disclosures are statements of fact. The - what's found in a
disclosure is - like, that doesn't really change. So, like, putting the information - like,

you know, putting the information into the document - like, that's not really advice.
That's, like, I - T helped him fill it out. So it's - like, I'm just trying to be specific. It
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wasn't advice per se, it was just, you know, "You need to do this. I can assist with
that."

MS McDONALD: And, sorry, that's what [ wanted to try and clarify.
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: So when you provided assistance, did you actually physically fill
out some of the - these documents?

MR HARTE: Some, I think. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did you sign any of those documents?

MR HARTE: As me, myself - like, Matthew Harte?

MS McDONALD: In any way?

MR HARTE: Not - no. Not that I can recall.

MS McDONALD: You wouldn't sign the document, would you, as Matthew Harte?

MR HARTE: No, [ wouldn't sign it - or - as Matthew Harte. Like I - no, because it
wasn't my disclosure.

MS McDONALD: Did you sign them - any of them, on behalf of Mr Breton?
MR HARTE: Not that I can recall, no.

MS McDONALD: The role of your mum - for example, your mum and dad, they're
on the ticket. To your recollection, are they actively involved at all?

MR HARTE: No.
MS McDONALD: So they never went out on stuffing how to votes into mailboxes?
MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: Didn't stand outside the local primary school, handing out how to
votes?

MR HARTE: They did it for me, but they -
MS McDONALD: I'm sure they did for you, Mr Harte.

COMMISSIONER: One would hope so.
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MS McDONALD: But different considerations. Back in December 20217
MR HARTE: No. No.

MS McDONALD: And to your knowledge, the other two gentlemen on the - who
were on the how to vote, did they play any active role? As in -

MR HARTE: Not that I can recall, no.

MS McDONALD: As I said, doing the legwork of putting how to votes in
mailboxes or standing at a local primary school?

MR HARTE: Not that I -

MS McDONALD: Not to your knowledge?

MR HARTE: No. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Again, you've made this distinction between registering as a
candidate and then the next step of - I think you described it as nominating as a
ticket.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But that's actually either registering or nominating as a group of
candidates?

MR HARTE: Yes. A nominating as a candidate and nominating as a ticket. Yes,
two separate things.

MS McDONALD: Is it your recollection that, with Mr Breton, they occurred at
different times?

MR HARTE: I don't remember.

MS McDONALD: Now, [ want to take you to some documents. Excuse me for a
minute. Now, the first document I'm going to take you to is nomination for mayor or
councillor.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: The way it's been organised on our database, it's in different
parts.

MR HARTE: Okay.
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MS McDONALD: So I'm going to have to take you to, kind of, different parts and
different documents. All right?

MR HARTE: Sure.

MS McDONALD: If we can first go to ELC.003.001.0007. Just while that's coming
up, your recollection was that when discussing "I want to be a candidate", the
question of Mr Breton not living within the area was raised, and how he was going to
be a candidate. Do you remember that?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Was there a discussion at any time about whether he'd be
standing in the North Ward or the South Ward?

MR HARTE: Look, to the best of my knowledge, I - I don't remember the specifics,
but I think it was identified that running in the South Ward would be beneficial
politically, and we felt like there was a higher likelihood of an independent candidate
being elected in the South Ward as opposed to the North Ward, and the reason for
that was because of the incumbent independent that was a North Ward councillor,
which was Peter Harle, and he is quite popular in the ward that he represents.

MS McDONALD: You had other independents standing in the South Ward, didn't
you?

MR HARTE: At that election?
MS McDONALD: Yes.

MR HARTE: I think so. There would have been - sorry, there would have been
Karress Rhodes, who was eventually elected.

MS McDONALD: Yes. Yes.

MR HARTE: Yes. But we made - we figured it would be politically beneficial for
Jason if he ran in the South Ward because we didn't think that - with the greatest
respect to former Councillor Rhodes, that she was as strong as an independent
candidate as Peter Harle was in the North Ward.

MS McDONALD: In your mind, did you consider which ward was going to be
more beneficial for the Liberal Party, given the first preferences of this ticket were
going to go to that party?

MR HARTE: Yes, that was part of the consideration. Yes.

MS McDONALD: And that consideration you discussed with Mr Breton?
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MR HARTE: Probably with Mr Breton and Mr Mannoun.

MS McDONALD: All right. I'll take you to this.

MR HARTE: Sure.

MS McDONALD: And I'm sorry, it's going to be a bit cumbersome. Sorry,

ELC - we can be live streamed, yes. Now, this, part A, candidate details, it goes for
two pages.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And if - maybe we can move down the page. And, Mr Harte, if
at any stage you want to pause to read a section or go back, just say that.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Right. But you can see there Candidate Details and - excuse me
for a minute. Sorry. All right. Can you see there it's Mr Breton?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Nominating for the South Ward. Now, you can see this is in
typed script that - sorry, typescript.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: The evidence you give beforehand that you could go onto the
website and at least populate some of the document by typing -

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But then ultimately you had to generate a copy because you've
got to sign it.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. If we go to the next page, you can see he requests that:
"The word 'independent' be printed above my name."

Under 2 he says:

"I was enrolled as an elector for the area at the closing date".

He's not a property developer. And then if we move towards the - a little bit further,
you can see his signature. And then "2 November 2021".
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COMMISSIONER: We might just need to scroll down on that.

MS McDONALD: Sorry.

MR HARTE: I accept that, but yes.

COMMISSIONER: I can see part of it.

MS McDONALD: Can we move down a wee bit? Yes. Thank you.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Could we go back to the first page. And this is a little bit
awkward because it's been redacted. Can I indicate that the address there is
Mr Breton's residential address but not within the municipality of Liverpool.
MR HARTE: Okay.

MS McDONALD: So - all right.

COMMISSIONER: If you need to put it on the assumption - and then I can be
shown an unredacted copy if you need to, rather than reading out Mr Breton's
address.

MS McDONALD: I was trying to avoid that.

COMMISSIONER: Yes. On the internet - I think that would probably be
preferable.

MS McDONALD: All right. Well, we might just move to the next part. And this is
document ELC.003.001.0010. And that can be live streamed when it comes up. So
this is part B. It's the nomination.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And you can see that Mr Breton is nominating as councillor in
the South Ward.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then you need two nominators. And can we move down the
page, please. The first person is Azam, is it Dabbagh?

MR HARTE: Dabbagh, yes.

MS McDONALD: You know him?
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MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: He's associated with the Liberal Party?

MR HARTE: He's associated, but I don't know if he's a member of the Liberal
Party.

MS McDONALD: All right. But it has - well, he's a managing director of Cubic
Real Estate?

MR HARTE: Correct.

MS McDONALD: Current Councillor Adjei works there?

MR HARTE: I'm not sure if that's the case, but I accept that if -
MS McDONALD: According to the website.

MR HARTE: There you go.

MS McDONALD: And you've got - you agreed that he had an association with the
Liberal Party. You were just uncertain whether he was a member of the Liberal

Party.
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And when you say that he had an association with the Liberal
Party, what was that?

MR HARTE: He's - he's friends with Mr Mannoun.

MS McDONALD: And have you met him with - either with or through
Mr Mannoun?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then can we just move to nominator number 2, Joseph
Aoukar. Aoukar, is it?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: Do you know him?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: How do you know him?
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MR HARTE: He's - he runs a bakery.

MS McDONALD: A bakery?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What, in Liverpool somewhere?

MR HARTE: Yes, in - if I - I'm pretty sure I've got the right person. In Moorebank.
Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. And how did he - do you know how he came (audio
drop).

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 3.34 PM

<THE HEARING RESUMED AT 3.42 PM

COMMISSIONER: Are we back live? Yes.

MS McDONALD: I think before we had the short break we had part B up on the
screen. Yes. Could we then move to document ELC.003.001.0011. On live stream,
yes. Sorry. Now this is Part C Candidate Information Sheet?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And again, you can see Mr Breton and that his enrolment
qualification he's identified is the non-residential roll?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Indicates that he's not a property developer. And then if we go
down to the bottom of the page where there's a statutory - yes - Statutory
Declaration. Mr Breton signs and declares that the information sheet is complete and
accurate, et cetera, and it's witnessed?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And it's witnessed by Rached Ammoun?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: That's Richard Ammoun?

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Who is a councillor affiliated with the Liberal Party?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And was he - he's a current councillor?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And he was elected in that - also elected in that December 2021
election?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now you've given evidence that you assisted Mr Breton in filling
out this form?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: I think you -

MR HARTE: Sorry. Can we just go back up?
MS McDONALD: Sorry. To where?

MR HARTE: Just top the top of the form.
MS McDONALD: The top of this page?

MR HARTE: I assisted with section 1 and section 2. I didn't assist with the statutory
declaration.

MS McDONALD: But did you assist him in organising for Richard Ammoun, as a
JP, to witness the declaration?

MR HARTE: I - yes, I - I - I - probably would have been the case, yes.

MS McDONALD: Because, if Mr Ammoun was a candidate -

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: - for that election for the Liberal Party, your evidence earlier
today was that the candidates would often pop in and were hanging around the

campaign office at the time?

MR HARTE: Correct. Yes.
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MS McDONALD: Okay. Now and then, just to complete I think this document, if
we can move to ELC.003.001.0012, and it can be live streamed. If you go to the top,
part D, Statistical Information Sheet?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: [ won't go to all the details in it, but if we go down to the bottom
of the page, again, we find Mr Breton's signature and a date of - sorry - 2 November
20217

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And to your knowledge, after completing the document and
actually signing it, it then has to be scanned and sent back to the Electoral
Commission?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Now it would appear on the same - around - no - either on
1 and 2 November another document called Application to Register as a Group of
Local Government Candidates was completed. I'll bring up that document and it's
ELC.003.001.0001, and it can be live streamed. I'll just show you the first page to
begin with.

MR HARTE: Sure.

MS McDONALD: So you can see there:

"Application to register as a group of Local Government candidates."

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: If we move down the page, you've got the election event is going
to be the election on 4 December for Liverpool South Ward?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then Group Details, the group name is:

"Jason Breton Independent."

And then the particulars of the platform or objectives:

"A true independent voice on council with the objective to return the Liverpool LGA

to the centrepiece of greater Sydney via innovation and sustainable business
initiatives, underpinned by a strong bias to prosecute the strategic plan for the LGA."
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You see that?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: I can take you very quickly through the rest of the document, but
just looking at that first page. In looking at that did you assist Mr Breton in
completing this document?

MR HARTE: That section there, I was just thinking to myself, that's not really - that
sounds like something Jason would say, to be honest.

MS McDONALD: It's very management-speaking, isn't it?

MR HARTE: Yes. I don't speak that way. And I notice that "independent" is spelt
wrong, which I don't think I would - I -

MS McDONALD: You would not do?

MR HARTE: No. Spelling was my strong suit in school, so that's - I don't remember
for sure, but that doesn't sound like something I would say.

COMMISSIONER: (Crosstalk) and someone will be looking at it.

MS McDONALD: All right. If we then go to the next page. There's something that's
been redacted that I want to ask you about, but I'm just going to continue with the
document and I'll come back to it. Okay?

MR HARTE: Sure.

MS McDONALD: So section 3 are the details of the candidates, and the first one
we've got is Mr Breton. You see that?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now the second one is a person that you referred to earlier in
your evidence as being one of the members of the team at the campaign office and
that's, is it, Mr Aaron Colley?

MR HARTE: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: You might need to scroll down on the screen.

MS McDONALD: I'm sorry. Thank you. Do you recall Mr Colley - and, sorry, I
might just stop there for a minute. I'll take you to page 3 just to orientate you with

this document. Candidate 3, we've got Mr Denis Michael Harte?

MR HARTE: Yes.
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MS McDONALD: That's your dad?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then, if we go down to Candidate 4, Mrs Fiona Harte; that's
your mum?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then if we go across the page, we've got Candidate 5 and
that's Mr Toni Cancellara?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. Now can we jump back to page 2. Did you assist your
parents in filling out the details in Candidate 3 and 4?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Candidate 2, Mr Colley, did you involve him in being nominated
in this document as candidate number 2?

MR HARTE: I - [ wasn't aware of this. Sorry, I take that back. I - I wasn't aware at
the time that Mr Colley would be the second candidate on that - on - as registering as
a candidate. I only found out, and after I saw disclosures, and that would have been a
while ago, probably a couple of years ago when I saw disclosures that had his name
on it. [ thought, I didn't know that he registered as a candidate. And I asked him and
he said he did register as a candidate on - on this occasion, but I think he was
knocked back because he didn't actually live in the Liverpool Local Government
area.

MS McDONALD: When you - in that answer you said, "I found out subsequently
through some disclosures where his name was on it" -

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: What disclosures are you referring to?

MR HARTE: The - the disclosures for the election. If you - if you register as a
candidate you have to make some form of the - the post-election disclosures. If you
register - even if you register but you don't nominate as a candidate, so you don't get
your name on the ballot paper, you still have to do those disclosures. So I actually
didn't realise this was the case until, like, I asked him afterwards. Like, did this - you
know, "Did you nominate?" "Yes." Sorry, "Did you register?" So, like, "Yes."

MS McDONALD: But the register of being a candidate was as part of this group?
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MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. And why were you looking at the disclosures after the
election of this group?

MR HARTE: Post election? I was - [ was involved in politics, so one thing that
people in politics do is check disclosures after an election to see donations, to see
that type of thing.

MS McDONALD: And I didn't ask this. When you say "checking the disclosures,"
are these disclosures publicly available on the New South Wales Electoral
Commission website?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And so, as part of your interest in politics after an election is
over, you go in and you look at disclosures as to who were the candidates?

MR HARTE: Either the electoral expenditure and donation disclosures.

MS McDONALD: That's what you're interested in?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. But how did Mr Colley's name come up in that?

MR HARTE: Because he had to make some form of disclosure, and I saw the name;
I was like, that doesn't make (indistinct). I didn't realise, like, that - I don't remember

him running as a candidate type of thing.

MS McDONALD: So he might have made a disclosure but it might have been a nil
disclosure?

MR HARTE: I don't remember what the -

MS McDONALD: Okay.

MR HARTE: No. He wasn't on the ballot paper, so wasn't as a candidate.

MS McDONALD: That was going to be one of my subsequent questions. So your
discussion with him afterwards is that he was part of the candidate, but then was
knocked back because he didn't live within the municipality and also wasn't on the

non-residential roll?

MR HARTE: I think that was the case. I am not 100 per cent sure though.
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MS McDONALD: All right. If we go across to page 3 there, your mum and dad
again?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Just looking at your dad and it's all redacted, if I can describe it
this way: under "postal address" there's a reference to an address in Peakhurst
Heights?

MR HARTE: Okay.

COMMISSIONER: Just assume that what counsel assisting is putting to you
reflects the document.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: In Enrolled Address there is an address - a particular number in
Macquarie Street, Liverpool. So does that reflect the evidence that you gave that they
were able to stand for election because they became part of the non-residential roll
by being nominated to vote by a business at -

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: - I'll put it broadly, at that address?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. And then with your mum, I won't go into the details,
but -

MR HARTE: Same thing.

MS McDONALD: Under Enrolled Address there's a different address within
Macquarie Street, Liverpool. Okay. And then the final person, if we turn to page 4, is
Mr Toni Cancellara and it would appear that, from his application, he must live
within the municipality?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: What I wanted to ask you was something about candidate
number 1. Now - and it concerns some of the redactions.

Commissioner, we've just been given some paper copies which do not have the
redaction. Could I hand one to you and one to the witness, and then I'll have

to - you'll have to share.

Have you got that, Mr Harte?
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MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now what I'm interested in is, it would appear that a lot of the
information concerning Mr Breton there is typed? Sorry, are you having difficulties?

MR HARTE: Yes. No, sorry, it's just my eyes, I don't have good vision.
MS McDONALD: No. I'm just wondering, do you need more light or is it all right?

MR HARTE: No, no. It's okay. I don't have good vision for a 23-year-old. But yes, I
can see this document, yes.

MS McDONALD: And you can see, putting to one side the signature and the date of
the signature, it would appear that a lot of the information about Mr Breton was
typed in?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You can see that. His name and then under Enrolled Address
there was a particular address, something something place?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: With a suburb. Can you see that?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Now there's then handwriting "207" with a particular address,
Park Road, and then in handwriting another suburb?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Do you know how that handwriting came about?

MR HARTE: I believe it was - the Enrolled Address section is supposed to be the
enrolled address within the Liverpool Local Government area. So if you're on the
non-residential roll that should be the address which -

MS McDONALD: Was not originally entered?

MR HARTE: 207, blah, blah, blah. Yes, I think it was just probably an error.

MS McDONALD: No, what I'm - you're working out probably what happened.

What I'm interested in is, did you have any input into noting that that enrolled
address should not be the typed address but should be something else?

LCC Inquiry - 22.10.2025 P-2456 Transcript by Law In Order



10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

MR HARTE: Yes. Yes, I - I picked up on that error and that's why the enrolled
address is down where the postal address is, which is the residential address.

MS McDONALD: Did you fill in - is that your handwriting, the "207 [word, word]
Road" and then the suburb that appears in the next column?

MR HARTE: It looks like it, yes.

MS McDONALD: So that's your handwriting. All right. Underneath the
handwriting under Postal Address "20-something Place" and then another suburb; is
that your handwriting?

MR HARTE: Yes. It appears to be so, yes.

MS McDONALD: So, from your identification of the handwriting, that appears to
be something that you've picked up when looking at this document?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: And that you have then corrected it?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: In correcting it, were you having a discussion with Mr Breton
about it, or how did it come about?

MR HARTE: I don't remember, but [ would have looked at that and thought, hang
on, that doesn't look correct, let's just fix it up.

MS McDONALD: Can you recall, and I won't take you to the page, but where your
mum and dad fill in Candidate 3 and 4 - you've got it there, sorry.

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Did you take it home with you and sit down with them and get
them to fill it out?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. So you actually had the custody of the form at, at least,
one point of time?

MR HARTE: I had custody of probably that page 3 and 4. I don't remember the - |
don't remember if I had the whole document at one time - actually, sorry. I scanned
the document, I would have scanned this document, so I probably did have custody
of it when I scanned it.
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MS McDONALD: Sorry. When you scanned it after it was completed?

MR HARTE: Correct. Yes.

MS McDONALD: Right.

MR HARTE: But I might have just taken 3 and 4 home just as one single page.
MS McDONALD: Get mum and dad to fill it in?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: But at some time you have amended the details in Candidate 1?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. And you can't remember the circumstances in which
you did that?

MR HARTE: No.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Can you recall when Mr Colley filled out the form?
MR HARTE: No. That's why I was - when I found out that he was registered as a
candidate, it came to - as a bit of a surprise to me. I didn't realise that that had

occurred.

MS McDONALD: All right. If you just jump to page 4 where - Mr Cancellara. Did
you arrange for him to complete the details of candidate number 5?

MR HARTE: I don't know if I organised for it. But, as I've said before, that

Mr Mannoun knows who - Mr Cancellara at the time. I don't remember if I - if we
met at the time.

MS McDONALD: Were you present when he completed his details?

MR HARTE: I don't remember.

MS McDONALD: But is your recollection at some time the document was
completed, and you scanned it, and then forwarded it to the New South Wales
Electoral Commission?

MR HARTE: No. I - no.

MS McDONALD: You said you scanned it?

MR HARTE: Yes. It would have gone to the candidate.
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MS McDONALD: All right. So you scanned it and then is your evidence you then
forwarded it to Mr Breton?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: Could that unredacted version be marked for identification?

COMMISSIONER: Yes. The unredacted version of document ELC.003.001.0001
will be MFI 28.

<MFI #28 UNREDACTED VERSION OF DOCUMENT ELC.003.001.0001

MS McDONALD: Could I just very quickly, to end this part, could we bring up
document ELC.003.001.0005. Now this is the How to Vote for Jason Breton part or
pamphlet?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: You gave evidence beforehand you provided some advice about
how you set it out, the setting of the how to vote. I assume you say - look, you have a
photo of yourself and whiz in the Australian flag up at the left-hand corner,
something along those lines?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And looking at this, Group D is number 1. Group C, the Liberal
gets the first preferences?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: And then it would appear that no other - after that no other
preferences appear to be nominated in the above the line voting?

MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Okay. Just finally with Group D we can see Mr Breton, your
mum and dad again, Mr Cancellara. We've got the - Mr Lorenzo Luciano?

MR HARTE: Yes.
MS McDONALD: He seems to have replaced Mr Colley?
MR HARTE: Yes.

MS McDONALD: Again, I can't quite remember your evidence, but you thought
Mr Luciano was some kind of associate of Mr Mannoun; was that the case?
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MR HARTE: Yes. He runs a local restaurant -
MS McDONALD: (Crosstalk).
MR HARTE: Or ran a local restaurant, yes.

MS McDONALD: All right. And do you know how he suddenly appeared as
number 2 on Group D?

MR HARTE: I don't remember the circumstances, but it would have been because
Mr Colley was unable to, or ineligible, and then he would have been subbed in
essentially.

MS McDONALD: Did you sub Mr Luciano in, or was that done by somebody else?
MR HARTE: That would have been done by Mr Mannoun.

MS McDONALD: I'm about to move to a different topic.

COMMISSIONER: Is that a convenient time?

MS McDONALD: Yes.

COMMISSIONER: All right. Thank you, Councillor, that concludes your evidence
for today. I'm grateful for your attendance and attention over a long day, I accept,
and we'll see you here tomorrow at 10.30.

MR HARTE: I'll be here as soon as possible.

COMMISSIONER: That's all right. 10.30. No need to get here before then. We'll
have a firm start at 10.30. You can step down. Thank you.

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW

COMMISSIONER: Before I formally adjourn, I'll just raise something that I think
counsel assisting might have raised with some of you at the bar table who were here
yesterday, although there's a couple of people who weren't.

Over the next four weeks there are a couple of chambers functions: one being a
celebration of those who were appointed as senior counsel over the last couple of
weeks; another is an annual solicitors function, and the customary Christmas
luncheon dinner.

I anticipate that either Mr Parish and/or Mr Andrews might also be in attendance,
given that we share chambers. I raise it so that any party who has a concern if I were
to attend can raise that with me. I'm certainly not going to be sidling up to either of
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them and talking about the issues in this inquiry. But if any interested party wishes to
raise a concern about my attendance at any of those functions, if they could raise it
before noon on Friday, because that's the first of them on Friday evening, I would be
most grateful. And I'll adjourn until 10.30 tomorrow. Thank you.

<THE HEARING ADJOURNED AT 4.09 PM
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